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We are not afraid of mistakes.

“Good judgment comes from experience, experience comes from bad judgment.”

Mistakes make us better.
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Corporate Information
AGE-¢
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited
BNP Paribas Hong Kong Branch

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1801, 18th Floor
Allied Kajima Building
138 Gloucester Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square
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P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Hong Kong Registrars Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

1073 (listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited)

WEBSITE

www.irasia.com/listco/hk/dayufinancial/
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHRE

| am pleased to present the annual results of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2021.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the year infested with unprecedented travel restrictions, no business was
left unaffected; only a matter of degree, whether directly or indirectly. It was to me
the opportune timing to identify the missing puzzles, piece them together, make the
Group a more complete financial service provider.

In 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of a stock brokerage operation at a
modest price. In 2022 at the time of writing, the Group completed the purchase of
a money lender operation at a nominal consideration, and grew its loan portfolio
rapidly shortly after. The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) used
COVID down time wisely to strategize the big picture ahead and aims to deliver long
term benefits for our shareholders.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“AGM”)

The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on Friday,
27 May 2022. The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 24 May 2022 to Friday, 27 May 2022, during which period
no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. To be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Hong Kong Registrars Limited of Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 23 May 2022.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The “Management Discussion and Analysis” by the Managing Director, which
immediately follows this statement and biographical details of directors, incorporates
the Group’s business outlook for the future.

APPRECIATION

We have achieved a break even performance in 2021. The synergy from the
acquisition of Morton Securities Limited which engaged in securities and related
services is positive. The Group expects there will be various challenges arising from
the continuing tensions in the relationship between China and USA, the seemingly
never ending global coronavirus outbreak, as well as geopolitical conflicts. We
believe that with our competitive strengths, the dedication and professionalism of its
staff and together with successful worldwide vaccination against coronavirus, the
Group is well prepared to meet these challenges.

| would like to express the Group’s appreciation for the efforts of our staff, in
particular our very innovative executive team, and look forward to their continued
support. | would also like to thank my fellow Directors, our professional advisers and
our shareholders for their support. On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express our sincere gratitude to Mr. Li Chi Kong for his invaluable
contributions to the Group and leadership to the Board during his tenure of services.

Kuo Jen-Hao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Biographical Details of Directors
EEBEERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

©)

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (“Mr. Kuo”), aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive N e N)(LC:/ RAPEA

Director on 23 December 2019. Mr. Kuo is the chairman of board of directors of the
Company and a member of each of audit committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. He is also the director of Morton Securities Limited, the wholly-owned 3 ; & @
subsidiary of the Company since 29 March 2021, and Morgan Finance Limited, the m((\“/
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since 1 March 2022. Mr. Kuo is currently
the chairman and the general manager of First Steamship Company Limited (“First
Steamship”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, and a director and the
chairman of Grand Ocean Retail Group Limited, a subsidiary of First Steamship. Both

companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. In addition, Mr. Kuo is
also a chairman of Taiwan Environment Scientific Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Taipei Exchange, and a non-executive director of Sandmartin International Holdings Limited (“Sandmartin”), a company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability with its shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 482). He was a
non-executive director and chairman of the board of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 102), for a period from December 2017 to April 2019. He was also a director of IRC Properties Inc. (now known as Philippine Infradev Holdings
Inc.), a company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange, for the period from July 2017 to May 2018.

A winding up petition dated 5 July 2017 was filed by a petitioner against Sandmartin (the “Petition”), which was prior to the appointment of Mr. Kuo as a
non-executive director of Sandmartin, and the Petition was dismissed by an order granted by the High Court of Hong Kong on 7 January 2019.

Mr. Kuo has several years of work experience in investment advisory, financial advisory and corporate finance at PricewaterhouseCoopers, Bank of
America Merrill Lynch and Private Equity Management Group and held various key roles at several private and listed companies engaging in (i) the
administrative and corporate business; (i) corporate finance; and (jii) general management in real estate development business, shipping business, retailing
business and logistics business. Mr. Kuo has a wealth of experience in business strategy development and innovation management.

Mr. Kuo graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Aletheia University in Taiwan and holds a Master degree of Business
Administration from Pace University in 2003 in the United States. Mr. Kuo is an inactive certified public accountant of the New Jersey State Board of
Accountancy.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)
EEBEERRE(E)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (“Mr. Warren Lee”), aged 58, was appointed as
an executive Director on 25 July 2019 and acts as the Managing Director of the
Company. He was one of the founding directors of Yu Ming Investment Management
Limited (“Yu Ming”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in August 1996
and has worked in Yu Ming ever since. Mr. Warren Lee is responsible for overseeing
business development of Yu Ming, maintaining client relationship, monitoring industry
developments and supervising corporate finance advisory and asset management
teams on the provision of services to clients.

Mr. Warren Lee is currently a director of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (“SHK”),
a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (former stock
code: 666, which was privatised in April 2021). He was appointed as SHK’s director in
September 2004.

Mr. Warren Lee was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Wise Ally
International Holdings Limited (“Wise Ally”) in December 2019. Wise Ally is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9918).

From December 2008 to November 2013, Mr. Warren Lee was a director of First Natural Foods Holdings Limited (now known as Imperial Pacific
International Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1076). From June 2010 to June 2013, Mr.
Warren Lee was an executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited, a company listed on Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8032).

From December 2006 to May 2007, Mr. Warren Lee was the chief executive officer of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (now known as Nam Tai Property Inc.),
an electronics manufacturing services provider listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: NTP). Between March 2004 and February 2006, he was
an independent non-executive director of Nam Tai Electronic & Electrical Products Limited (“NTEEP”), a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (former stock code: 2633, which was privatised on 13 November 2009). Between February 2006 and April 2007, he was re-designated as
a non-executive director of NTEEP. Between January 2007 and April 2007, he was also a non-executive director of J.I.C. Technology Company Limited
(now known as China Renewable Energy Investment Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 987).

Mr. Warren Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of East Anglia in the United Kingdom in 1986 and obtained a distinction
in Master of Science degree from The City University Business School in London in 1988.

Mr. Warren Lee is licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) to act as a Responsible Officer to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”).
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)
EEBEERAR(E)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing (“Mr. Lam”), aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director
on 25 July 2019. He joined Yu Ming in 2005. He is a director and the portfolio
manager of Yu Ming and is licensed by the SFC to act as a Responsible Officer to
carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under
the SFO. Mr. Lam mainly supervises the asset management business of Yu Ming.
He is responsible for formulating investments ideas, identifying different investment
opportunities both in listed and unlisted securities and execution of investment
decisions. He is also involved in the provision of corporate finance services by Yu
Ming.

Mr. Lam has over 15 years of experience in asset management and corporate finance

gained in Yu Ming. Prior to joining Yu Ming, Mr. Lam worked in corporate lending and
syndication department of The Bank of East Asia, Limited. Mr. Lam graduated from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2002 with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree, and is accredited with Chartered Financial Analyst since
September 2009.
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Ms. Li Ming (“Ms. Li”), aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director on 25 July
2019. Ms. Li has over 19 years of experience in corporate finance. She joined Yu Ming
in October 2007. She is a director of Yu Ming and is responsible for supervising and
leading execution of corporate finance projects of Yu Ming. She is also involved in the
provision of asset management services by Yu Ming. Prior to joining Yu Ming, Ms. Li
worked with Asian Capital (Corporate Finance) Limited from April 2001 to October
2007.

Ms. Liis licensed by the SFC to act as a Responsible Officer to carry on Type 1 (dealing
in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities as well as
a Licensed Representative to carry on Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. Ms. Li obtained Master of Finance

(Investment Management) degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2010
and Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Administration awarded by the University of
Hertfordshire of the United Kingdom in 2000.

FREL((FLL)) 445 R-F-NFLA-TAREZERNTES - THINEXBENAEERI90FER - R _TTLFTAMARS
o MRBRHES  VEAREENTINTRMOCEMERE - RI2EBHMREMEEETIZRYG - FRINNARSEN  R-FZ-—FNAE-_Z2+
FHA ARNEE(RERBE) BRAF -

FULEBESERETARAR  REEFLRMBERIICER1E(ELFRS) REHGIRERERHIER) RREEY - URFEKE - REEHFK

HEEFINEFME(REFRHRER) RFEREEEE X EERY - TLUITHR T SFNEAAEIAZSMIREER) BT 2N RN =T
gi%% £ B University of Hertfordshire 8 2% /) T i & 12 22 L (] o

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)
EEBRFAR (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Sze Chung (“Mr. Chan”), aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 July 2019. He is also the chairman of audit committee
and a member of each of remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. He has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting. Mr. Chan
is currently an independent non-executive director of Tongfang Kontafarma Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1312).

From December 2009 to August 2010, Mr. Chan was the chief financial officer of
Coolpoint Energy Limited (now known as Viva China Holdings Limited), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8032).

Mr. Chan became financial controller of Nam Tai Group Management Limited in April 2001, and was promoted in September 2008 as chief financial officer
of NTEEP, a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (former stock code: 2633, which was privatised on 13 November 2009)
and also as acting chief financial officer of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (now known as Nam Tai Property, Inc.), a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE: NTP).

Before joining Nam Tai Group Management Limited, Mr. Chan was employed as the financial controller of J.I.C. Enterprises (Hong Kong) Limited, a
company engaged in manufacturing and trading of liquid crystal display panels, and was employed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the period from
January 1993 to August 1997 and served as a senior accountant at the time of his resignation.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Wales with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accounting and Finance in 1991 and obtained a Master of Arts
degree in Accounting and Finance at the University of Lancaster in December 1992. Mr. Chan is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and that he is also recognised as a chartered
financial analyst by the CFA Institute of the United States of America.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)
EERERE (&)

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (“Mr. Suen”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 July 2019. He is also the chairman of nomination committee
and a member of each of audit committee and remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Suen is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a partner of Withers. He
has more than 20 years of experience in corporate finance and with area of practice
principally in initial public offerings on the Stock Exchange, mergers and acquisitions,
corporate reorganisations and Listing Rules compliance, and he has advised clients
from various industries such as clean energy, pharmaceutical, medical, retails,
manufacturing, entertainment and biological.

Mr. Suen has served as an independent non-executive director of Xin Yuan Enterprises
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock

code: 1748) since September 2018, and Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc., a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2500) since July 2019.

Before joining Withers, Mr. Suen was an associate and later a partner of DLA Piper Hong Kong from June 2007 to May 2012 and May 2012 to February
2018, respectively, and served as a manager in the investment products department of the SFC from October 2005 to July 2006, responsible for
reviewing applications of collective investment schemes and monitoring continuing compliance of authorised schemes. Mr. Suen was an assistant solicitor
at Woo Kwan Lee & Lo from September 2000 to March 2005.

Mr. Suen received a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of East Anglia in the United Kingdom in July 1987 and a Postgraduate Certificate in
Laws from the University of Hong Kong in June 1998. Mr. Suen was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in October 2000 and in England and Wales in
December 2003. Mr. Suen has also been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April 1993.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)
EEBRFAR (&)

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred (“Mr. Sum”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 July 2019. He is also the chairman of remuneration
committee and a member of each of audit committee and nomination committee of
the Company.

Mr. Sum is the head of corporate finance, equity capital markets and debt capital
markets department of BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited (‘BOCOM”).
He had been with BOCOM from September 2008 to September 2016 and re-joined
in March 2017. Between 2002 and 2008, Mr. Sum had been with TSC Capital Limited
(now known as KGI Capital (Hong Kong) Limited). After leaving BOCOM in September
2016 and before re-joining in March 2017, he worked in CEB International Capital
Corporation Limited and Celestial Capital Limited.

Mr. Sum was admitted as Certified Practising Accountant of the Australian Society

of Certified Practising Accountants in 1997 until 2008. Mr. Sum obtained a Bachelor

of Science degree from the University of East Anglia in the United Kingdom in 1986 and a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New South
Wales in Australia in 1992.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RO

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Current Reporting Period”), Da Yu
Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of corporate finance advisory
services and asset management services through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Yu Ming Investment Management Limited (“Yu Ming”) and in securities broking,
underwriting and placing of securities through another wholly-owned subsidiary
acquired during the Current Reporting Period, Morton Securities Limited (“Morton”).

Yu Ming is licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

The Group completed the acquisition of the entire issued shares of Morton on 29
March 2021. Morton is a securities dealer licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing
in securities) regulated activities under the SFO. Morton is also an Exchange
Participant of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and is admitted by Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited to participate in
the Central Clearing and Settlement System as a Direct Clearing Participant (within
the meaning of the General Rules of Central Clearing and Settlement System).

Corporate Finance Advisory

During the Current Reporting Period, the corporate finance advisory services
provided by Yu Ming mainly included the following:

(i) acting as financial adviser to advise listed issuers, shareholders and
investors of listed issuers and entities on specific transactions in respect of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and/or
the Hong Kong Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs (the
“Takeovers Code”);

(i) acting as independent financial adviser to listed issuers to provide
independent advice required under the Listing Rules, the Takeovers Code or
other specific circumstances; and

(iii) acting as financial adviser to listed issuers on retainer basis to advise listed

issuers on corporate strategies and compliance with the Listing Rules, the
GEM Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Asset Management

During the Current Reporting Period, Yu Ming provided asset management services
solely to SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (“SHK?”), the first investment company
listed on the Stock Exchange. SHK was privatized in April 2021, the investment
management agreement with SHK is still in force and has been renewed until
December 2022.

Securities Broking

During the Current Reporting Period, Morton is principally engaged in securities
broking, underwriting and placing of securities and investment in securities.

Financial Results

For the Current Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue was approximately HK$59.5
million (2020: approximately HK$110.7 million). Profit attributable to the owners of
the Company for the Current Reporting Period was approximately HK$1.1 million
(2020: approximately HK$48.7 million). Earnings per share for the Current Reporting
Period amounted to HK0.10 cent, as compared to HK4.28 cents for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Revenue for the Current Reporting Period mainly consisted of income from
corporate finance advisory and related services of approximately HK$36.7 million
(2020: approximately HK$66.4 million), asset management services of approximately
HK$17.2 million (2020: approximately HK$43.2 million) and securities and related
services of approximately HK$4.5 million (2020: Nil).

Employee Benefit Expense

The Group’s employee benefit expense mainly consisted of salaries, discretionary
bonus and mandatory provident fund for the employees as well as fees for the
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Directors. Salaries, discretionary bonus, mandatory provident fund and Directors’ BeUREEHLOA/NT ¢
fees during the Current Reporting Period were approximately as follows:
2021 2020
B -F —TTHF
HK$ million HKS$ million
BEET BT
Salaries e 13.2 9.5
Discretionary bonus FIEIEAT 3.5 14.1
Mandatory provident fund MBS 0.6 0.4
Directors’ fees EEME 0.5 0.5
Total HE 17.8 245
Administrative and Other Expenses TR EMEX
Apart from the Group’s administrative expenses, other expenses for the Current BAREBOITHRZIN  AFEEB 2 ,H\ﬁﬁ F;ﬁ 3‘5 EE

Reporting Period included the amortisation on and derecognition of intangible assets
of approximately HK$13.8 million (2020: approximately HK$17.8 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overall Results

The financial results of the Group are highlighted as follows:

Bt 75 O B
BREXE

REERI AR AT -

2021 2020
—Eo—F BT
HKS$ million HK$ million
BEET BHEET
Revenue W 59.5 110.7
Other net income HABAFER 0.5 0.9
Other net financial loss HipEEEE (9.8) (3.9)
Reportable segment revenue BEDHWE 50.2 107.7
Employee benefit expense EEREFIMAZ (17.8) (24.5)
Impairment losses on trade receivables B HRYGIEZ BEEE (5.0 0.1
Administrative and other expenses TBREMFEZ (10.0) 6.5)
Amortisation on and derecognition of intangible assets B EERHEREEER (13.8) (17.8)
Profit before income tax R AT 8B AR A 3.6 58.8
Income tax expense FriSfix (2.5) (10.1)
Profit for the year EE R F 1.1 48.7
Return on equity attributable to owners of the Company ARQRHEA AEE R ERE 0.2% 10.5%
Earnings per share (HK cent(s)) FRREF| (B
—Basic —EK 0.10 4.28
—Diluted —#E 0.10 428

Morton is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company acquired
Morton in March 2021. Morton’s results were consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements since then.

Earnings and Expenses

For the Current Reporting Period, the Group recorded a mediocre profit after tax of
approximately HK$1.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$47.6
million or 97.7% when compared to the year ended 31 December 2020.

The above-mentioned decrease in profit was mainly driven by (i) a fall in corporate
finance advisory income as a result of (a) revenue recognition of certain ongoing
advisory transactions subject to completion, and that of a significant advisory
transaction subject to conditions; and (b) certain completed transactions of
substantial amount recognised in the previous reporting period not recurring during
the Current Reporting Period; (i) no asset management performance fee recorded
in the Current Reporting Period; and (jii) mark-to-market losses in the Group’s listed
securities holding and additional impairment losses on trade receivables arising
mainly from a long outstanding balance with a major client during the Current
Reporting Period.

The Group’s basic earnings per share for Current Reporting Period was HKO0.10
cent (2020: HK4.28 cents).

For the Current Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue decreased by approximately
HK$51.2 million or 46.3% mainly due to the reasons mentioned under (i) above. In
addition, a performance fee of income approximately HK$26.6 million was recorded
during the previous reporting period under review but no such fee income was
earned during Current Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In addition to the impairment loss on trade receivable, administration and other
expenses increased by approximately HK$3.5 million or 53.8% to approximately
HK$10.0 million mainly because the Company acquired Morton during the Current
Reporting Period. The expenses of Morton were consolidated into the Group
accordingly.

Revenue and Financial Resources

For the Current Reporting Period, the Group had revenue of approximately HK$59.5
million (2020: approximately HK$110.7 million), and the Group’s net profit was
approximately HK$1.1 million, representing a decrease in profit of approximately
HK$47.6 milion as compared to the Group’s net profit of approximately HK$48.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$99.0 million (2020: approximately HK$84.0 million). As at 31
December 2021, the Group’s current ratio (current assets to current liabilities) was
approximately 151.7% (2020: approximately 359.9%).

For the Current Reporting Period, the Group had no material exposure to fluctuations
in exchange rates.

Indebtedness and Banking Facilities

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had no bank and other borrowings.

The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by reference to the ratio of total bank
borrowings (if any) to total equity attributable to the owners of the Company as at 31
December 2021 and 2020, was 0%.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$679.1
million (2020: approximately HK$514.9 million) and total liabilities of approximately
HK$212.7 million (2020: approximately HK$49.7 million). The net assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 were approximately HK$466.4 million (2020:
approximately HK$465.2 million).

Capital Structure

There was no change to the share capital during the Current Reporting Period and
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no outstanding contracted capital
commitments.

As at 31 December 2020, outstanding contracted capital commitments of the
Group, which mainly represented the commitment to acquire Morton, are set out in
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had no assets under pledge.

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

On 29 March 2021, the acquisition of the entire issued shares of Morton from
First Mariner Capital Limited (“FMCL”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of First
Steamship Company Limited (“First Steamship”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company, was completed and accordingly, Morton has become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and its financial statements are consolidated into the
financial statements of the Company. FMCL and First Steamship were connected
persons of the Company (as defined under the Listing Rules) and the transaction
therefore constituted a connected transaction pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which was only subject to the reporting and announcement requirements and
was exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
the Listing Rules. The finalised consideration for the transaction was approximately
HK$7,140,000. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 21 September 2020, 29 December 2020 and 29 March 2021
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant investments, acquisitions and
disposals by the Group during the Current Reporting Period.

Segment Information

Detailed segmental information in respect of the revenue and profit or loss is shown
in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

As at the date of this report and as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the board of
Directors of the Company is not aware of any material contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Remuneration Policies and Share Option Scheme

As at 31 December 2021, the Group, including its subsidiaries but excluding
associates, had 29 staff including Directors (2020: 19). The remuneration policy of
the Group is to ensure that all staff, including Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Group and remuneration offered is
appropriate for their duties and in line with market practice. No Director, or any of
his/her associates, or executive is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
In addition, share options may be granted to eligible employees of the Group in
accordance with the terms of the approved share option scheme.

During the Current Reporting Period, no share option was granted (2020: Nil).
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Since face to face meetings have been the common interface with clients, the
challenges the Group encounters during COVID-19 pandemic are the difficulties of
meeting PRC clients in the corporate finance business, where client instructions and
professional parties’ discussions are most effective in physical meetings.

Some of the Group’s works involve reviewing recommendations or decisions of the
Stock Exchange where the Group’s representatives and clients physically attend to
make effective representation at listing committee hearings. The imposition of a 14-
day return quarantine on PRC clients travelling to Hong Kong with a standard seven-
day stay permit make it impossible for them to attend those hearings physically. If
hearings are postponed, the income recognition of such mandates would likewise
be delayed. Therefore, travel restrictions may affect the Group’s revenue.

In addition, adopting video attendance by the Stock Exchange for listing committee
hearings during COVID-19 pandemic inevitably impairs the effective representation
of listed companies’ directors, where body language at physical hearings can be
sensed by members of listing committees in assessing credibility of review cases.

The Group has recorded goodwill of approximately HK$303.0 million since July
2019. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. In the
course of testing, estimations have to be made. There are inherent uncertainties
related to such estimation and judgment in applying to the assessment of goodwill
recoverability. Also, impairment charges would negatively impact the Group’s
financial results.

There were intangible assets of approximately HK$80.0 million brought down from
last year. Those intangible assets were subject to amortization and/or impairment
test. Amortisation and derecognition charges amounted to approximately HK$13.8
million for the Current Reporting Period. Any further impairment charges might have
a material adverse impact on the Group’s results.

The Group’s success depends on its ability to retain key management and other
personnel and to attract and train suitable replacements. In the event any of the
key management member or responsible officer resigns, becomes disqualified or
is otherwise ineligible to continue performing their duties, and at the same time
without immediate and adequate replacement, this could adversely affect its status
as a licensed corporation, thus jeopardizing the Group’s business and financial
performance.

Save as discussed above, other financial risks were also set out in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PROSPECT

The Group entered into a binding conditional agreement in September 2020 to
acquire the entire issued shares of Morton, a stockbroker, to expand its capabilities
and service scope to our existing clients as well to attract new clients. The
acquisition was completed in March 2021.

The Group entered into a binding conditional agreement in February 2022 to acquire
the entire issued shares of Morgan Finance Limited, a money lender, to enhance the
Group’s capability to offer a more comprehensive financial services to existing and
new clients. The acquisition was completed in March 2022.

The Stock Exchange has implemented its flurry of reform consultation in the name
of improving market quality, including a significant increase in the minimum profit
requirements of new listing applicants, which is expected to disqualify 62% of new
listing applications (based on backtracking of past new listing applications), make
thousands of professionals redundant, and save significant administrative costs of
the Stock Exchange. Though the impact to the Group is much less significant than
other licensed corporations engaged in sponsoring new listing, the long term side
effect such as the drastically reduced number of listed companies in Hong Kong
and the mirroring new listing requirements for reverse takeovers, which the Group
occasionally advises, creates challenges for the Group.

Advising contentious and hostile situations remains an attractive business of the
Group. The team continues to seek opportunities to help clients resolve disputes
with regulators as well as commercial counterparties.

Our asset management client, SHK, the first investment company listed on the Stock
Exchange under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules, was privatized and delisted on the

Stock Exchange in April 2021. Our investment management contract with SHK was
renewed in December 2021 for 12 months.

Lee Wa Lun, Warren
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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The board of Directors of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (the
“Board”) presents its report together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities
of the Company’s subsidiaries are provision of corporate finance advisory services,
asset management services, securities broking, underwriting and placing of
securities, details of which are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 5 and Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 12 to 18 of this Annual Report, respectively. Possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing are set out in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on page 17 of this Annual Report and the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 32 to 50 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 51 to 65 of this Annual
Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company itself is an investment holding company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Group’s operations are carried out by its operating subsidiaries,
Yu Ming Investment Management Limited (“Yu Ming”) and Morton Securities
Limited (“Morton”). Yu Ming and Morton are licensed by the Securities and Futures
Commission in Hong Kong, and are subject to applicable laws, regulations and
codes of relevant regulatory authorities in Hong Kong, such as the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the year and up to the date of this Annual Report, the
Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands
and Hong Kong in all material respects relating to the business operations of the
Group.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES AND CLIENTS

The key relationships of the Group with its employees and clients are discussed in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 51 to 65 of this Annual
Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW

The Board has established an audit committee in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
and now comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
Sze Chung, Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred and one Non-Executive
Director, namely Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao. Mr. Li Chi Kong resigned as the Chairman of the
Board and Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021, and hence he also
ceased to be a member of the audit committee on the same day.

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The figures contained in the financial information set out on pages 71 to 155 of this
Annual Report have been audited by the Company’s auditor, BDO Limited (“BDO”).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to approximately HK$99,000 (2020: approximately
HK$15,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the top five customers together
accounted for approximately 65.6% (2020: approximately 81.1%) of the Group’s
revenue and the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 30.8%
(2020: approximately 40.0%) of the Group’s revenue.

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the principal activities of the
Group. None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 5% or more of the
issued shares of the Company) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 71 to 155 of this Annual Report.

No dividend is declared or recommended for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

The Group had no bank loans and other borrowings as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE PREMIUM REDUCTION

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company on 28 May 2021, all amount of approximately
HK$431,023,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account was reduced
and cancelled and that of the credit arising from the share premium reduction be
applied to offset the entire amount of the accumulated losses of the Company
as at 31 December 2020 and the remaining balance of the credit arising from the
share premium reduction be transferred to the retained eamnings account. Details
of the share premium reduction are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of the distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2021 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands and articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), the Company’s share premium account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 156 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS 2=
The Directors during the reporting period and as at the date of this report were: PREFEMAARREBRCEEA
Non-Executive Directors: FHITESE !
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman with effect from 1 July 2021) BAREEFE) BZE=—FEA-AREZEARERE)
Mr. Li Chi Kong FERIEE
(resigned as Chairman and Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021) (BZZ——F+tA BRI ERFRIIENTESR)
Executive Directors: HITEE
Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director) BEMGE A (EFALE)
Mr. Lam Chi Shing MEK ST E
Ms. Li Ming Tt
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BIFEHTES
Mr. Chan Sze Chung PRBIAS A
Mr. Suen Chi Wai REREE
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred SEELE

Biographical details of Directors of the Company are set out on pages 6 to 11 of this ARREENEBEFBHNATRECEEFINIE -
Annual Report.

In accordance with the article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Lee Wa Lun, RREBERMAFE1081K - FTEBEE  THATRBER
Warren, Ms. Li Ming and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred will retire by rotation at the SEBARAAREERRBFAE ((RRAFAE]) FHE
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”). Each of the above RE - FHEMRAEEFAERTBENRRBFAS LEE
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. BT -

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE By R
The Company has received confirmations of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 AARBWEIARARAAEREBIENTESTEARE TR

of the Listing Rules from all current Independent Non-Executive Directors of the RIS ASGEEBE M MR WRAKEBIEYL -
Company, and considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren, the Executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of five years commencing from 25
July 2019, which shall continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Lam Chi Shing and Ms. Li Ming, the Executive Directors, have entered into
service agreements with the Company respectively for an initial term of three years
commencing from 25 July 2019, which shall continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of Mr. Chan Sze Chung, Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred,
the Independent Non-Executive Directors, has respectively entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 26 July
2019 unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao, the Non-Executive Director, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 23
December 2019 unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

None of the current Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, all the current Non-Executive Directors (including the
Independent Non-Executive Directors) were appointed for a specific term of three
years but subject to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals are set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he
or she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate
directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against
the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited
(“SHK?”), of which Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren is a director, is obliged to pay a
management fee of approximately HK$17,246,000 to the Group in accordance with
a management agreement signed between the Group and SHK.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Sandmartin International Holdings
Limited (“Sandmartin”), of which Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao is a director of Sandmartin, is
obliged to pay a placing commission and services fee of approximately HK$661,000
to the Group in accordance with a placing agreement signed between the Group
and Sandmartin.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, or its
subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director of the Company or his/her
connected entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESSES

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board is not aware of any Directors
of the Company being considered to have interests in businesses which compete or
are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren, as the covenantor, executed the Deed of Non-Competition
(the “Deed”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for and on behalf of
the subsidiaries) on 25 July 2019. Pursuant to the Deed, Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren
has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company that, during the
continuation of the Deed and for as long as the Company’s shares remain listed on
the Stock Exchange and he is, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the
issued shares of the Company, or otherwise regarded as the substantial shareholder
of the Company, he shall not, and shall procure his close associates not to, be
involved or engaged in any business or activity which, directly or indirectly, competes
or may compete with the business of the Group (the “Restricted Business”), or has
any interest (whether directly or indirectly) in the Restricted Business (other than the
interest in the Group). Details of the Deed are set out in the paragraph headed “Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the section headed “Relationship with the Substantial
Shareholder upon Resumption” in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 June
2019.

The Company has received declaration from Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren of his
compliance with the terms of the Deed. Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren declared that he
has fully complied with the Deed since the effective date of the Deed and up to the
date of this Annual Report. The Independent Non-Executive Directors also reviewed
the compliance of the Deed.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Changes in Directors’ information since the date of approval of the 2021 interim
report of the Company, which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

The Directors’ fees of all Directors of the Company were respectively increased by
10% with effect from 1 January 2022 as compared with 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in the Directors’ information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the
date of approval of the 2021 interim report of the Company and as at the date of this
report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
Chief Executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company were deemed or taken to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be and were recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

EERAQFARMEEEE2RD - HER
RESEERAR

RZZZ_—F+-_A=1+—R FARAEFRESTRAER
RAB R EEHERE (& R E 7 LG EPIEXVED) 2 ERI
7 HERMSKES T EEREES PR EDIEXVESET R
EONAAME AR R R 2 s MR R (BRI IRIRE 7 X
BRI ZERX AR EERRRTRABBRRAIWE
EHA 2R RRR) - WERENERHENRIEES AT
GPIE3B2EMEMFE 2 ELMA - SFiRE EHRAME10
PRl EmEIT AB R ETE S X SNEETRI([BRETRI) A
HEARR B RB 2 e SORBIAT

RAERXTRARG ZHR

% of the total relevant

Nature Number issued shares as at

Name of Directors Capacity of interests of shares held 31 December 2021

RZZB=—F

TZHA=Z+—HtEH

EENA 37 EEME BERGOHE ERTROBLHEETLL

Lee Wa Lun, Warren Beneficial owner Personal 227,250,000 19.94%
FHEMR EREBA A

Lam Chi Shing Beneficial owner Personal 17,800,000 1.56%
RS EREBA A

Li Ming Beneficial owner Personal 17,800,000 1.56%
ik EREBA A

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief Executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme”, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the
Company, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or Chief Executives of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Board, the following persons
(not being the Directors or Chief Executives of the Company) had an interest (long
positions) or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company, other than the interests of the
Directors as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and Associated
Corporations”

Long positions in shares of the Company

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEgHRE(E)

FERRRAEMA T 2R S5ER

RZZFZ—F+=-R=+—0 " RESEHA - THIATGE
FEARRREFRZRITHA B) RAR AR s ABRI R D+ %
BARBNIREES LG EHIE336IKREMFE 2 FL M
R AR IR B M EIE I EXVEBE2 R B3N SIEARA R
RIB am (IR AR - skER BN EERIRAE
EREANFENAE DB TRARBREAEG LIRRY
5% A FiEn (RIEFRNAQ A RBESEE 2 k) - B
MREHZ R IKE | R EBE 2 ER 2N

RAERBRG ZHR

% of the total relevant

Nature Number of issued shares as at
Name of Shareholders Notes Capacity of interests shares held 31 December 2021
R=B=—%
+=B=+—HtEH
REREW ME  B545 EENE BERGHE CERTROLHEEIL
First Steamship Company 1 Interest of controlled Corporate interest 331,660,000 29.11%
Limited (“First Steamship”) corporation
Etiur =1 YNCIE ) RIEHI A B EER AL
Cheung Kit Shan Susanna 2 Interest of a spouse Family interest 227,250,000 19.94%
SRR [iR%iEct BN g
Lau Yau Cheung (“Mr. Lau”) 3 Interest of controlled Corporate interest/ 75,605,000 6.64%
2ahsE ([BI5E4£ D corporation/ Personal interest/
Beneficial owner/ Family interest
Interest of a spouse
SRR DEIMNER S DRSS
BEmlAAN AAEZ,
[RRE Y e VY3
BH Equities Limited (“BH Equities”) 3 Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 75,590,000 6.63%
BamlEEA Btk
Chan Kin 4 Interest of controlled Corporate interest 57,360,000 5.03%
ReRfe Corporation
RIEHI A B SR N
Argyle Street Management 4 Interest of controlled Corporate interest 57,360,000 5.03%

Holdings Limited (“ASMH”)

Corporation
RIEHI A TSR

ARtk
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Notes:

1. As per notification filed by First Steamship on 17 December 2021, Heritage Riches
Limited (“HRL”) and Mariner Far East Limited (“MFE”) hold 234,670,000 shares
and 96,990,000 shares of the Company respectively, representing 20.60% and
8.51% of the total relevant issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021
respectively. HRL and MFE are wholly-owned by First Steamship S.A. (“FSSA”) and
First Mariner Holding Limited (“FMH”) respectively. FSSA and FMH are wholly-owned
by First Steamship. Therefore, First Steamship, FSSA and FMH are respectively
deemed to have an interest in the said shares in which HRL and MFE are interested.

2. Ms. Cheung Kit Shan Susanna is the spouse of Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Cheung Kit Shan Susanna is deemed to have an interest in the said
shares in which Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren is interested.

3. BH Equities holds 75,590,000 shares of the Company. BH Equities is wholly-owned
by Mr. Lau. Therefore, Mr. Lau is deemed to have an interest in the said shares in
which BH Equities is interested. In addition, Mr. Lau has personal interest in 10,000
shares and family interest in 5,000 shares of the Company.

4. As per notifications filed by Mr. Chan Kin and ASMH respectively on 24 February
2020, ASM Connaught House Fund LP and ASM Connaught House (Master) Fund
Il LP hold 45,850,000 shares and 11,510,000 shares of the Company respectively,
which are held indirectly by ASMH through a number of controlled corporations. Mr.
Chan Kin has over 50% controlling interests in ASMH. Therefore, Mr. Chan Kin and
ASMH are respectively deemed to have an interest in the said shares held by ASM
Connaught House Fund LP and ASM Connaught House (Master) Fund Il LP.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware, as at 31 December 2021, of
any person (who are not Directors and Chief Executives of the Company) who had
an interest (long positions) or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
pursuant to a resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 22 May 2019. The Share Option Scheme has a remaining life of
approximately 7 years as at the date of this report.

The Share Option Scheme was adopted for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group, which
will expire on 21 May 2029. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Company may
grant options to any participant (“Participant(s)”) which includes (1) any employee
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Group and any entity in which the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”); (2) any director (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (3) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (4) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (5) any
consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; or (6) any person
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group or any Invested Entity eligible for options under the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme must not exceed 113,933,019 shares, being 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of resumption of trading (i.e. 26 July
2019) and the date of this report. The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to a Participant in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue.
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to a Participant, who is a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, in any 12-month period must not exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue nor exceed an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant) of HK$5
million. Any further grant of options in excess of the individual limit must be subject
to shareholders’ approval.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days from the offer date, upon
payment of HK$1.00 per offer of grant of an option. Option may be exercised after
it has vested at any time during the period to be notified by the Board (as defined
in the Share Option Scheme) at the time of the grant of the option but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the offer date, subject to the provisions
for early termination of the Share Option Scheme. The Subscription Price shall be
determined by the Board (as defined in the Share Option Scheme) and notified to a
Participant and shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the offer date, which
must be a business day; (b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five consecutive business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share option was granted, exercised,
cancelled, lapsed or outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements. Save as the exempt connected transaction disclosed therein
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, the other related party transactions do not constitute connected
transactions nor continuing connected transactions of the Company as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Significant Investments, Acquisitions and
Disposals” on page 16 of this Annual Report in relation to the completion of the
acquisition of Morton and the exempt connected transaction disclosed in Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements, the Board is not aware of any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions made during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Event after the Reporting Date” of this
report in relation to the acquisition of Morgan Finance Limited, the Board is not
aware of any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions made
after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
The Company has no pre-emptive rights existing.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 32 to 50 of this Annual
Report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 18 February 2022, the Company entered into the sale and purchase agreement
to purchase the entire issued shares of Morgan Finance Limited from First Mariner
Capital Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of First Steamship, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. First Mariner Capital Limited and First Steamship
were connected persons of the Company (as defined under the Listing Rules) and
the transaction therefore constituted a connected transaction pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules which was only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements and was exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under the Listing Rules. The transaction was completed on 1 March
2022 and the finalised consideration was approximately HK$2,178,000. Details of
the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18 February
2022 and 1 March 2022 respectively.

On 24 March 2022, Morgan Finance Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company since 1 March 2022), as purchaser and assignee, entered into the deed
of assignments with two vendors, as sellers and assignors, for the acquisition of
mortgage loan portfolios in the aggregated consideration of approximately HK$43.7
million (subject to adjustments). The transaction has not yet been completed up
to date of this report. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 March 2022.

Apart from those disclosed in this Annual Report, there were no significant
investments, acquisitions and disposals authorised by the Board at the date of this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR

BDO was appointed as auditor of the Company on 25 November 2019 upon the
retirement of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI ANDA”) with effect from
that date. ZHONGHUI ANDA was the auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 30 June 2019.

The accompanying financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020 and the six-month period ended 31 December 2019 were audited by BDO
who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for its
re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited

Lee Wa Lun, Warren
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Corporate Governance Report
EXRERMSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The board of Directors of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (the
“Board”) believes that corporate governance is essential to the success of the
Company and has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard of
corporate governance is maintained. The Company has applied the principles (the
“Principles”) and adopted code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
(renamed as Corporate Governance Code with effect from 1 January 2022, which
its new/amended disclosure requirements are yet to apply to this report) in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. The current practices will be reviewed and updated
regularly to follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

The Company has complied with the Principles and the Code Provisions that were in
force as set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a system of corporate governance, observed the CG
Code and currently appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors and one
Non-Executive Director constituting not less than one-third of the members of the
Board. The composition of the Board during the reporting period and as at the date
of this Annual Report is as follows:

Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman with effect from 1 July 2021)
Mr. Li Chi Kong

(resigned as Chairman and Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021)
Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing
Ms. Li Ming
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Suen Chi Wai
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

The Independent Non-Executive Directors comprised top-notched professionals
(one lawyer, one accountant and one investment banker) who are capable of
safeguarding the corporate governance of the Company and protecting the interests
of all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”). Through serving on the
Board committees, taking active participation and sharing of valuable impartial view
on matters discussed at the Board and/or Board committees meetings and taking
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all Independent Non-
Executive Directors have provided the independent view to the Board and made
various contributions to the effective direction of the Company. Biographical details
of the Directors of the Company are set out on pages 6 to 11 of this Annual Report.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) between any members of the Board and in particular, between the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

All Directors have access to the services of the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) who regularly updates the Board on governance
and regulatory matters. Especially for the Independent Non-Executive Directors,
the Company will keep them up-to-date with the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) so that they may scrutinise the Company’s
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitor
performance reporting. Any Director and member of the audit committee, nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company may take independent
professional advice if they so wish at the expense of the Company, as arranged by
the Company Secretary.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has held 4 regular Board
meetings at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with the CG Code. 5
additional Board meetings have been held when the Board considers appropriate
during the year.
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Attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings for the year ended 31
December 2021:

Number of meetings
BB

F+-A=+—HILFE

TEH

=

=

eRENES

Non-Executive Directors
HHITEE
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman with effect from 1 July 2021)
BAZKEFER) BT —F+HA - HREZERER)
Mr. Li Chi Kong (Note)
A5 A4 (D)

Executive Directors

HITEE

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)
PEMEE (EFEKID)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing

MEXKTE

Ms. Li Ming

FHLt

Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHBITESE

Mr. Chan Sze Chung

PRBIRS A

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

REREE

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

SEELSE

7/9

3/3

9/9

9/9

9/9

9/9

7/9

4/9

78%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

78%

44%

Note: Resigned as Chairman and Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021.
During the period from 1 January 2021 to the date of resignation, 3 Board
meetings were held.
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At least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting is given to all Directors to provide
them with an opportunity to attend and all Directors are given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. Board papers are despatched
to the Directors at least 3 days before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

A private meeting of the Chairman of the Board and all Independent Non-Executive
Directors had been held in 2021.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for running the Group and drawing up the strategies to be
adopted. It ensures that proper risk management and internal control systems are in
place and that the Group’s business conforms to applicable laws and regulations.

The management, under the leadership of the Managing Director, is responsible for
implementing the strategies and plans established and any instruction given by the
Board; and submitting reports on the Group’s operations to the Board on a regular
basis to ensure effective discharge of the Board’s responsibilities.

The Board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretion to committees
consisting of such Director or Directors and other persons as the Board thinks fit,
and it may from time to time revokes such delegation or revokes the appointment of
and discharge any such committees either wholly or in part, and either as to persons
or purposes, but every committee so formed must, in the exercise of the powers,
authorities and discretion so delegated, conforms to any regulations that may from
time to time be imposed upon it by the Board.

During regular meetings of the Board, the Board discusses and formulates the
overall strategies of the Group, monitors financial and investment performances and
discusses and approves the annual and interim results, discusses and decides on
other significant matters, if necessary.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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Continuous Professional Development

Director’s training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the management had provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under the Listing Rules. The Company had funded
training courses and delivered training materials during the year and will continue
to arrange and/or funding training opportunities in respect of the roles, functions
and duties of Directors upon requested by Directors. The Company had received
record of trainings from each Director relating to development and refreshment of
their knowledge and skills on the topics of directors’ duties, corporate governance,
regulatory development, risk management, environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) reporting, business, taxation, financial reporting, anti-corruption or
other relevant topics. The participation by individual Directors in the continuous
professional development during the year is recorded in the table below:

FEEXER

EEE ARALETNER - BE-2-—F+-A=1—8
LHFER EEECHEFERRRERMTATY - BA
ARAZERE - KR RA RN TERE HERGFETE - 2
EEGRRNERTAEERE L TRAETERS - £A7
ERLABEIRRREREIEN  NEEBR - AAA
BERHR, REDEBEES HE - Wi RBEHE IR
€ AAFERESESEBERREFANEEME 0%
EHhEEBR  BREE B HEREAELE )R
.25 B MBER  RASREMEREEZARE
RIS - TRIMEEENERNL2 BFETLHE
ByELSE -

Attending trainings/
briefings/seminars/

webinars/
Reading regulatory conferences/
Directors or monthly updates workshops
L
EHNeg EXE
REEREHEMDR WmLERE
B SHEHER o8 TS
Non-Executive Directors
HHITEE
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman with effect from 1 July 2021) v v
BAREE(ER) (BZS=—FLA—AREZTAREE)
Mr. Li Chi Kong (resigned as Chairman and Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021) v -
EREE (BT —F+ A —BRBEEERIFNTES)
Executive Directors
HITEE
M. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director) v v
FHEGEL (ERHELE)
Mr. Lam Chi Shing v v
WRER SR
Ms. Li Ming v v
Tt
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHBITEE
Mr. Chan Sze Chung v v
PRBIEEE
Mr. Suen Chi Wai v 4
REREE
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred v v
BEELE
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All responsible officers and licensed representatives of the Group who are licensed
persons registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), three of which are Executive Directors of the
Company, are also required to undertake a sufficient number of hours of continuous
professional training in order to maintain their Securities and Futures Commission
licences to carry on regulated activities.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as
required under the CG Code and has adopted the written terms of reference on
its corporate governance functions. The major roles and functions of the Board in
respect of the corporate governance are:

—  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;

—  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management;

—  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

—  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

In 2021 and up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board has performed the
corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

Chairman and Managing Director

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the roles of the Chairman of the Board
and the Managing Director of the Group are not exercised by the same individual.

Mr. Li Chi Kong acted as the Chairman of the Board up to the date of his resignation
with effect from 1 July 2021. Following the resignation of Mr. Li Chi Kong, Mr. Kuo
Jen-Hao was appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 1 July 2021.
The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the leadership and effective running of
the Board.

The position of Managing Director is performed by Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren, who
is delegated with the authorities to manage the Group’s business in all aspects
effectively, implement major strategies, make day-to-day decision and coordinate
overall business operation.
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Terms of appointment and re-election of Directors

Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors) of the
Company have a specific term of appointment for three years, subject to retirement
and re-election in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. At
each annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for
the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.

The Company has formal letters of appointment or service agreements for Directors
setting out the key terms and conditions of their appointment.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three sub-committees, namely the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee to assist the Board in
discharging its responsibilities and to enhance the Group’s corporate governance
framework. Each committee has its own defined terms of reference which clearly
state the corresponding roles and responsibilities.

Audit Committee

An audit committee of the Board has been set up with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The terms of
reference of the audit committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

The audit committee currently consists of Mr. Chan Sze Chung (chairman of
the audit committee), Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred, being
Independent Non-Executive Directors, and Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao, being Non-Executive
Director.

Mr. Li Chi Kong resigned as the Chairman of the Board and Non-Executive Director
with effect from 1 July 2021, and hence he also ceased to be a member of the audit
committee on the same day.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties and

may have access to independent professional advice according to the Company’s

policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the audit committee are:

(@) to recommend to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor, to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, and to consider any questions of resignation or

dismissal of the auditor;

(b) to consider and discuss with external auditor the nature and scope of each
year’s audit;

(c) toreview and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;
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to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements before
submission to the Board;

to discuss any problems and reservation arising from the interim review and
final audit, and any matters the external auditor may wish to discuss;

to review the external auditor’s management letters (if any) and management’s
response; and

to review the Group’s financial controls, risk management and internal control
systems.

The works of the audit committee during the year ended 31 December 2021

included:

(@)

(W)

reviewing annual results for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2021;

discussing with the management of the Company over the completeness,
fairness and adequate accounting standards and policies of the Group in the
preparation of the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020 and the interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June

2021;

reviewing and discussing with the external auditor over the financial reporting of
the Company;

reviewing and approving the 2021 audit scope and fees;

recommending to the Board, for the approval by the Shareholders, of the re-
appointment of the external auditor;

reviewing the arrangement (including investigation and following up action, if
any) under the whistle blower policy;

reviewing the internal audit report; and

reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.

As at 31 December 2021, the arrangement for employees of the Group and those

who deal with the Group to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial

reporting, internal control and other matters through whistle blower policy is in

place. No reporting had been received by audit committee during the year ended 31
December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the audit committee members met 2

times with external auditor and also met with external auditor without the present

of management of the Company. Each committee meeting was supplied with the

necessary financial information of the Group for enabling the members to consider,

review and assess matters of significance arising from the work conducted.
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Attendance of individual members of audit committee at audit committee meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2021:

Number of meetings

BE—T-—F+-A=+—RUEFEAERRZESSZER
EZZBEREBMLFEE

BB 2
Mr. Chan Sze Chung (Chairman) 2/2 100%
PR BESE A (E7)
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao 2/2 100%
BAZFKE
Mr. Suen Chi Wai 2/2 100%
BREERE
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred 2/2 100%
SEELE
Mr. Li Chi Kong (Note) 11 100%
M ()

Note: Resigned with effect from 1 July 2021. During the period from 1 January 2021 to iz BT =—FLtA—BRBHE -B=Z=—F—F—Bi

the date of resignation, 1 audit committee meeting was held.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee of the Board has been set up with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the remuneration committee are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The remuneration committee currently consists of Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred (chairman
of the remuneration committee), Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Suen Chi Wai, being
Independent Non-Executive Directors, and Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao, being Non-Executive
Director.

Mr. Li Chi Kong resigned as the Chairman of the Board and Non-Executive Director
with effect from 1 July 2021, and hence he also ceased to be a member of the
remuneration committee on the same day.
The remuneration committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties and may have access to independent professional advice according to the
Company’s policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the remuneration committee are:

(@ to recommend to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
remuneration of Directors and senior management;

(b) to recommend to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
Executive Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference to
corporate goals and objectives approved by the Board from time to time;

(d) to review and approve the compensation payable to Executive Directors
relating to any loss or termination of their office or appointment;
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(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct; and

() to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 2 remuneration committee meetings
were held to discuss and review discretionary bonus of Executive Directors and
remuneration of all members of the Board; and made recommendations to the
Board. The remuneration committee also reviewed and recommended to the Board
for adoption of the revised remuneration policy.

Attendance of individual members of remuneration committee at remuneration
committee meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021:

Number of meetings
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Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred (Chairman) 2/2 100%
SEELE(ER)

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao 172 50%
BAZFIE

Mr. Chan Sze Chung 2/2 100%
BRBIEE A

Mr. Suen Chi Wai 2/2 100%
BREERE

Mr. Li Chi Kong (Note) 11 100%

FEMEE D)

Note: Resigned with effect from 1 July 2021. During the period from 1 January 2021 to
the date of resignation, 1 remuneration committee meeting was held.

The remuneration committee adopted the model under Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii)
(rearranged as Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) with effect from 1 January 2022).

Nomination Committee

A nomination committee of the Board has been set up with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the nomination
committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee currently consists of Mr. Suen Chi Wai (appointed as the
chairman of the nomination committee with effect from 1 July 2021), Mr. Chan Sze
Chung and Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred, being Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Mr. Li Chi Kong resigned as the Chairman of the Board and Non-Executive Director
with effect from 1 July 2021, and hence he also ceased to be the chairman and
member of the nomination committee on the same day.

The nomination committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties and may have access to independent professional advice according to the
Company’s policy if considered necessary.
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The major roles and functions of the nomination committee are:

@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship;

to assess the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors; and
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment

of the Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 1 nomination committee meeting was

held to (i) review the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board; (i) assess

the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors; (jii) review the re-election

of retiring Directors at the AGM held in 2021; (iv) review the board diversity policy;

and (v) make recommendations to the Board. The nomination committee also (i)

recommended to the Board for nomination of the Chairman of the Board; and (i)

reviewed and recommended to the Board for adoption of the revised nomination
policy.

Attendance of individual members of nomination committee at nomination committee

meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021:

Number of meetings

REZEEZIEAGBRME
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TFE Ryt R E S SR DR A RAEERT 2 IRAIEE -

HE-Z - F+-_A=+—BLEFEAREZESZHER
RELZEEXEMHRTE :

LEE .
Mr. Suen Chi Wai (Chairman) (appointed as chairman of the nomination committee with effect from 1 July
2021) 11 100%
BREEEEER) B2 —FLA - RAREZERRELEESRLH)

Mr. Chan Sze Chung 11 100%
BRI E
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred 11 100%
SEELE
Mr. Li Chi Kong (ceased to be chairman of the nomination committee with effect from 1 July 2021) (Note) 11 100%
FEMEE(E_T_—FtA-BBTBEEREZEEER) (W)

Note: Resigned with effect from 1 July 2021. During the period from 1 January 2021 to iz B2 -_—FtA—BEBF BT -_—F—H—Hi

the date of resignation, 1 nomination committee meeting was held.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The nomination policy of the Company sets out the nomination criteria and
procedures for providing a formal, considered and transparent procedure to the
Board, with the assistance and recommendation from the nomination committee,
for evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships. In assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate, the nomination committee may make reference to certain
criteria such as the Company’s need, the integrity, experience in the Company
principal business and/or the industry in which the Company operates, balance of
skills, knowledge and experience on the Board, the amount of time and effort that
the candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities and, in the
case of an Independent Non-Executive Director, the independent requirements set
out in the Listing Rules, and take into account various aspects set out in the board
diversity policy of the Company and the number of directorship in other listed/public
companies, and in the case of Independent Non-Executive Directors, the length of
tenure, where an Independent Non-Executive Director serving more than nine years
could be relevant to the determination of a Non-Executive Director’s independence.
The secretary of the nomination committee shall invite nomination of candidates
from Board members (if any) for consideration by the nomination committee. The
nomination committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated by
Board members. The Board shall make the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.

In considering the re-appointment of retiring Directors standing for re-election at
AGM in 2021, the nomination committee, based on the above nomination policy,
assessed the relevant candidates on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill,
professional qualifications, independent mind and ability to commit time etc, and
made recommendations to the Board for approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The board diversity policy of the Company sets out the approach with the objective
of achieving diversity on the Board. The Company is committed to the benefits
of having the Board with appropriate balance of expertise, skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives. The nomination committee reviews and assesses the
Board composition on behalf of the Board and recommends the appointment of
new Directors, if necessary. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria, including but not
limited to the Company’s needs, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, integrity, management experience, technical skills, industry or professional
experience and skills, length of service, and the amount of time and effort that the
candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities and, in the case
of independent non-executive director(s), the independence requirements set out in
the Listing Rules. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The nomination committee monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy and review it on an annual basis, which will include an assessment of its
implementation and effectiveness. The nomination committee will discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board, and where necessary,
make any revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company’s dividend policy aims to set out the approach adopted by the
Board in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth.

Subject to the requirement of the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands
and any other laws and regulations applicable to the Company, and if required,
the approval of the Shareholders, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operation environment is stable and there is
no significant investment or commitment made by the Group. The aggregate amount
per year shall not exceed 30% of the consolidated annual net profits (excluding
extraordinary items, if any) attributable to the Shareholders, taking into consideration
the criteria including but not limited to the Group’s current and future operations,
financial position, development pipeline, prevailing economic environment,
contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve requirements, dividends received
from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, as well as any other conditions or
factors which the Board deems relevant and having regard to the Director’s fiduciary
duties. The remaining net profits will be used for the Group’s development and
operations. The dividend policy allows the Company to declare special dividends
from time to time in addition to annual dividends.

The Board reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend,
modify and/or cancel the dividend policy at any time.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company is to ensure that all employees, including
Directors, are sufficiently compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the
Company and remuneration offered is appropriate for their duties and in line with
market practice. No Director, or any of his/her associates, and executive is involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly responsible for all
activities of the Group. The Board considers that the senior management comprise
the Executive Directors.

Particulars regarding senior management and other Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to
the Listing Rules are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of
the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Board adopted appropriate accounting policies consistently, made prudent and
reasonable judgements and estimates, and ensured that the consolidated financial
statements were prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the financial reporting
are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 66 to 70 of this Annual
Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fees payable to the external auditor
are set out as follows:
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Internal Audit Function

The Group has engaged an independent professional adviser (the “Internal Audit
Adviser”) to carry out the internal audit function by performing an independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems. The Internal Audit Adviser has conducted an annual review
and made recommendations to improve the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Internal Audit Adviser is independent of the Group’s daily operation and carries
out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by conducting
reviews, walkthroughs and tests of operational effectiveness.

Review of the risk management and internal control systems is conducted annually
and the results are reported to the audit committee and then in turn to the Board.
The audit committee members met 1 time with Internal Audit Adviser during the
year.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems involve the operation
and/or supervision of the Board, the audit committee and the Internal Audit Adviser.
The main features and the key processes that have been established in reviewing
the adequacy and effectiveness of such systems are stated below.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. However, such systems are designed to manage the Group’s
risks within an acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve the business objectives of the Group. Accordingly, it can only provide
reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
of management and financial information and records or against financial losses or
fraud.

The Board has overall responsibility in monitoring the process of corporate reporting
and control system throughout the Group. It delegates the duties of proper and
regular reviews on the deployment of resources and financial reporting systems, the
corporate governance practices and compliance with the Listing Rules, the SFO and
other applicable regulations to the senior management. The senior management
reviews and briefs the reporting systems with the audit committee at least annually.

The Board, through the recommendations from the senior management, has
established the Risk Management Policy which consists of an on-going process
for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks (including the ESG
risks) faced by the Group and this process includes updating the systems of risk
management and internal control when there are changes to business environment
or regulatory guidelines. The effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management
and internal control systems are reviewed annually.
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The Board implements the Board’s policies and procedures on risk and control by
identifying and assessing the risks faced, and involving in the design, operation and
monitoring of suitable internal control to mitigate and control these risks.

The key processes that have been established in reviewing the adequacy and
integrity of the systems of risk management and internal control include the
following:

o The Executive Directors ensure the effectiveness of the daily operations and
that the operations are in accordance with the corporate objectives and
strategies.

e  The audit committee reviews risk management and internal control issues (if
any) identified by Internal Audit Adviser, external auditor, regulatory authorities
and senior management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Internal Audit Adviser checks for compliance with statutory requirement, internal
policies and procedures. They assess the operating effectiveness and efficiency of
the risk management and internal control systems in the course of their audit. The
audit scope and frequency are determined by the level of assessed risks and have
to be reviewed and approved by the audit committee.

The Group has already established the Inside Information Policies. They depict
clearly the decision trees to distinguish inside information and the necessary actions.

Employees are required to keep all inside information in strict confidence. Once the
inside information needs disclosure, the manner must be equal, timely and effective.

The Board, through the audit committee with the assistance of Internal Audit Adviser
and the senior management of the Company, reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group (including the consideration of the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well as
those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting) for the year ended
31 December 2021. The controls within these systems were considered effective
and adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect financial, operational,
compliance controls, internal audit, risk management and internal control functions
of the Group were identified.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Hon Sang is the Company Secretary of the Company. He is also an
employee of the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.
He is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. The
Company Secretary has complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication policy and shall
review it on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following
ways: (i) the holding of the AGM and extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”), if
any, which may be convened for specific purposes and provide opportunities
for the Shareholders to communicate directly to the Board; (i) the publication of
announcements, annual reports, interim reports, circulars on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange; and (jii) the availability of latest information of the
Group on the website of the Company.

The Company also releases all necessary disclosures and corporate communication
through the website of Stock Exchange in order to keep Shareholders, the public
and any other stakeholders informed of all major developments that affect the
Company.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for substantial issues,
including the re-election of retiring Directors, and voting of which are taken by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules. Any results of the poll are published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company’s notices to the Shareholders for the AGM are sent to the
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days or 21 clear days whichever is the
longer and for EGM at least 10 clear business days or 14 clear days, whichever is
the longest.

Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, chairmen and members of the audit
committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee were available at
the AGM held on 28 May 2021 to answer questions from the Shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board explained the procedures for conducting a poll during the
AGM. All resolutions proposed at the AGM were voted separately by way of poll. All
the votes cast at the AGM were properly counted and recorded. The representative
of the auditor, BDO Limited, had attended the AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Attendance of individual Directors at general meetings during the year ended 31 HEZZT
December 2021: B

Number of meetings

PN

= __

tERERHSE (H)

T HET A=t ALFEARRASERNESH

AGM
BRBFRE

Non-Executive Directors

FHEHITEE

Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman with effect from 1 July 2021)
BAREE(ER) (EZZ—F+A—BREZERER)

Mr. Li Chi Kong (resigned as Chairman and Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021)
FEREE (BT —F A AT ERENTES)

Executive Directors

BHITEE

Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren (Managing Director)
THEMGEL (FERHELE)

Mr. Lam Chi Shing

MEKEE

Ms. Li Ming

Fit

Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHHITESE

Mr. Chan Sze Chung

REBIRL A

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

BREEEE

Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred

SEELE

11 100%

1 100%

i 100%

11 100%

11 100%

11 100%

0/1 0%

01 0%

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 27 May 2022 and resolutions AAREEBRERBFASEN _E-_—_FRA-_++tHET
to be proposed thereat will be voted separately by way of poll. T HREM

BERMNBIRETAETROR ©

CONVENING AN EGM OF THE COMPANY BY REZBEAAGREZIAS

SHAREHOLDERS

Any one or more Shareholder holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not RIERX 2
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting FIR AR B R IAT DR+ 2 — BT — Rk Z Z AR A]
at general meetings can convene EGM by depositing or sending a written requisition BRAEESRATMENTEZAEFHVHAIRNERESTEN
addressed to the Board or the Company Secretary for the transaction of any RIBZ 2 EE AT AN EMSHEERIREERIAS o

business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. A BENERZIES

BAEH RS EEE TRARBBRAE RS

BB MEANRIT o HERGIE
REBFREE - AIZBAFBITAERT

If the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within 21 days of the deposit EE2FBAE21ER
of the requisition, then the requisitionist(s) himself/themselves may do so in the same RNBACE MEFARESFTCARBHATEEELANTESE
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of B  HERAATENTEFEA

the failure of the Board will be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a Shareholder
should lodge a written request, duly signed by the Shareholder concerned, setting
out the proposals at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for
the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The request will be verified
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and upon their confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the request
to the Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be decided by
the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal put forward by a Shareholder is (a)
pursuant to a requisition by a Shareholder to convene an EGM referred to above or
(b) forms part of ordinary business to be considered at an AGM as described in the
articles of association of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES

Enquiries by Shareholders and the investment community to be put to the Board can
be sent in writing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.
For share registration related matters, Shareholders can contact the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar, Hong Kong Registrars Limited. Contact details
can be found on page 3 of this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The memorandum and articles of association of the Company are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

APPROACH AND STRATEGY

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) believes in delivering long term,
sustainable value creation to our shareholders. In doing so, we recognise that the
choices we make will have an impact on the communities in which we carry on our
business and we should make such impact a positive one. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainable development of society and the environment, and
endeavour to embrace these principles as part of our practice and governance. The
Company has adopted a Sustainability Policy in November 2019 which covers our
principles in the area of employment and labour practices, business integrity, the
environment and the community.

This report outlines the sustainability initiatives and Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”)
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) that are material to the Group and
its stakeholders on Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues for the
year ended 31 December 2021. This report supplements information disclosed in
this Annual Report.

The subject areas and aspects are presented in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is well aware of its role and
responsibility in oversight of ESG matters, such as setting up ESG-related goals and
targets as well as assessment and management of material environmental and social
risks issues. The ESG works are implemented by the management of the Company
which consists of the executive directors of the Company. The management is
responsible for identifying ESG-related risks and determining the appropriate risk
profile for the Group. Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate
and manage the risks of business and activities, including ESG-related risks.
The results and findings are reported annually by the management to the audit
committee of the Company and the Board for review, details of which are under the
section headed “Risk Management and Internal Control” contained in the Corporate
Governance Report of this Annual Report.

For further information about our corporate governance, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 to 50 of this Annual Report.

This report has been reviewed and approved by the Board.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The preparation of this report strictly adheres to the reporting principles of

“materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and “consistency”.
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Materiality Assessment and Stakeholder Engagement

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the ESG Reporting
Guide, the following is the list of issues that are considered to be material and
relevant to the Group. The priorities are set based on management’s view as well
as certain conclusions from our stakeholders’ engagement. The key stakeholders
such as investors, shareholders, employees, business partners, clients, government
and other regulatory bodies have been taken into consideration. The Group
has communicated with the stakeholders through various channels such as the
Company’s website, announcements, annual general meeting, annual and interim
reports, face-to-face/online/telephone meetings. Based on management’s view, the
aspects and KPIs relevant to this report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

Material and relevant issues:

Service responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.2, B6.5
Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.2, B7.3

Other relevant issues:

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure, KPI A1.4

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general disclosure, KPI A3.1
Climate change (Aspect A4) general disclosure, KPI A4.1

Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure

Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure

Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure, KPI B3.1, B3.2
Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPI B5.2, B5.3, B5.4

Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPI B8.1, B8.2

All other KPIs not mentioned above were considered not relevant for detailed
disclosure because the Group is not involved in any manufacturing or construction
activities.

Quantitative

Each of the calculations under the section headed “A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
— Environmental Indicators” has been made reference to the emission factors
in the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.

As regards the calculation of each social KPI under the section headed "B. SOCIAL

ISSUES", it has been made reference to the “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Balance

This report presents an unbiased overview of the Group’s ESG performance with
both achievements and areas of improvements disclosed.

Consistency

During the year ended 31 December 2021, except for the following mentioned,
no change to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a
meaningful comparison:-

(@) addition of new aspect namely “Climate change (Aspect A4) general disclosure,
KPI A4.1” pursuant to the new ESG requirement under the ESG Reporting
Guide which became effective for financial years commencing from 1 July
2020; and

(b) the figures during and as at 31 December 2021 included Morton Securities
Limited (“Morton”), which was a newly acquired wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company since 29 March 2021, while the figures during and as at 31
December 2020 was only about the Company and its then sole wholly-owned
subsidiary, Yu Ming Investment Management Limited (“Yu Ming”).

REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group’s operations are
carried out by its operating subsidiaries, Yu Ming and Morton. The details of their
principal activities can be referred to the section headed “Business Review” in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

This report mainly covers the ESG performances of the Company, Yu Ming and
Morton so as to consistent with the business scopes as disclosed in this Annual
Report.

The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of provisions by
the ESG Reporting Guide.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group’s Sustainability Policy encompasses our general approach towards
environmental issues. We endeavour to:

—  observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond minimum
requirements;

—  prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste;

—  make efficient use of resources, including energy and water;

— minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the environment and
natural resources; and

—  engage our staff and partners to promote environmentally sustainable
business practices and constantly re-assess our processes to minimize
environmental impact.

Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing or construction activities,
hence it does not produce hazardous waste in its operations. The direct
(Scope 1) greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions are mainly produced from the
vehicles owned by the Group and such emissions are mostly on a “second
degree” basis as incurred during occasional business travels. As regards the
energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions, only electricity purchased from The
Hongkong Electric Company Limited is related to the Group’s operations. Also,
the Group generates non-hazardous waste, i.e. paper consumption, during its
daily office operations.

In line with our policy to minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, major
operations are equipped with audio conferencing facilities to minimise the need
for face to face meetings and keep business travelling to a minimum. We shall
consider analysing emission patterns based on a 3-year timeline and consider
implementing emission targets and relevant initiatives, where material.

There are no relevant laws and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste applicable to our business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and the Environment
and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We place a high priority on the efficient use of resources. With only 29 staff
across the Company, we consume limited amount of electricity and paper.
Water consumption is not material to our business as it relates only to
the personal consumption of our staff for their personal hygiene. Also, the
water supply and drainage facilities of our offices are managed by property
management company as our business is operated in leased office premises.
Hence, the Group does not have water consumption and water recycling
record during the year ended 31 December 2021 and no issue in sourcing
water that is fit for use in the Group’s operations. Nevertheless, we remind our
staff to turn off water taps when they are not in use, and fix dripping, spraying
and leaky water taps promptly to prevent waste and avoid bacterial growth to
affect the hygiene of our workplace. We shall also consider analysing our water
efficiency patterns based on a 3-year timeline and consider implementing
water efficiency targets and relevant initiatives, where material. Moreover, our
business does not involve consumption of packaging materials.

Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings and reduction
in paper consumption are circulated to all staff. For instance, staff are reminded
to switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during the
time working outside the office and whenever possible. Energy efficient office
equipment is always preferred in making purchase decisions. We shall consider
analysing our energy use patterns based on a 3-year timeline and consider
implementing energy efficiency targets and relevant initiatives, where material.

Throughout the Group, the following business processes to maintain a
paperless office were implemented whenever possible to reduce paper usage
while improving efficiency in the operations:

—  Electronic bank and broker statements

- Recycling schemes for paper

— Internal electronic administration and communication platform

Recycling scheme of office equipment and supplies has been also launched
within the Group. We shall consider analysing material waste records, and

implementing reduction targets and relevant initiatives, where material.

Except for the above-mentioned, the Group’s businesses have no direct
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Environmental Indicators RIBER
Types Unit 2021* 2020
=] By —T——F g 23
Air and GHG Emissions
BERIEERBHNR
NOx Emissions’ kilogram (“kg”)/kilometer (“km”) 1.08 N/A
R NIV VN A (VN=1)) TEA
SOx Emissions' kg/Litre (“L") 0.04 N/A
k=R k738 DI/ FAFHD TER
PM Emissions' kg/km 0.08 N/A
BRI NI @N:] TE R
Direct (Scope 1) GHG emission’ kg of carbon dioxide equivalent (“kgCO,e") 6,432 N/A
B (EEDREREHEN Ar—aftmEE (A Z8tiEE]) TEA
Indirect (Scope 2) GHG emission® kgCO.e 26,639 6,958
R (8BE2) A= REHE AT =EREE
Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emission® kgCO,e 2,418 1,696
H b5 (BEZ) B EREHHC AFF—&fiREE
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) kgCO.e 35,489 8,655
AEREHIEE (BET - 2Kk3) PSR E S
GHG emission intensity kgCO.e per full-time employee (“FTE”) 1,224 456
RERBEHNEE AT &g e 2HEE ([28EE])
kgCO,e per million revenue 597 78
DT &k 2 BBl
kgCO.e per square feet 5.3 3.7
AT —EfERFAR
Energy Consumption
BERUH
Petroleum usage' L 2,725 N/A
AR F TEA
Petroleum usage intensity L per FTE 94 N/A
UMAEEE /28RS TER
L per million revenue 46 N/A
7 aEE T B
Indirect energy — Electricity consumption” kWh 37,520 8,698
RERER — B ERE TR
Electricity consumption intensity kWh per FTE 1,294 458
BIERTE TR, ZREESR
kWh per million revenue 631 79
FRE BB
KWh per square feet 5.6 3.8
TRE,FIR
Non-hazardous waste
EmEREEY
Paper consumption® kg 504 353
HaRIHRE NN
Paper consumption intensity kg per FTE 17 19
RFREREE NI 1]
kg per million revenue 8 3
DT /BBt
kg per square feet 0.08 0.15
D /IR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Caused by the vehicles owned by the Group.

Caused by the use of electricity purchased from The Hongkong Electric
Company Limited.

Only for paper purchased (e.g. A4 paper, A3 paper and printed paper
product). Office of the Group does not have a separate water meter and the
property management company could not provide the data. Therefore, water
consumption data is unavailable.

The 2021 figure includes data of a newly acquired wholly-owned subsidiary,
Morton.

Climate Change (Aspect A4)

We integrate climate-related risks into the Company’s Risk Management Policy.
The Company, through the audit committee and with the assistance of the
management, has identified the climate-related risks relating to the businesses
and operations of the Group and categorised them into (1) physical risks and (2)
transition risks.

Physical Risks

We are aware that climate change can lead to an increase in extreme weather,
such as super typhoon, flood, drought, etc., which can affect the ecosystem.
The ecosystem destruction may have interlocking effect, such as fluctuation in
temperature, that as a result the energy consumption, equipment depreciation
and associated costs in our operations could be affected as well as the safety
of employees working at the premises may also be threaten. The Group keeps
making efforts to implement the mitigation of use of resources as disclosed in
the above section headed “Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and the Environment
and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)”.

In Hong Kong, super typhoon is the common extreme weather. The Group’s
operations are principally office-based. The effect on the productivity of our
staff would not be significant unless the extreme weather continues for a long
period. As circumstances allow, our staff could work from home so as to
mitigate any adverse effects. We have also developed emergency protocols
to handle such events, as outlined in our Employee Handbook, including
procedures to approach typhoon signals and rainstorm warnings.

Besides, super typhoon and heavy rain may break the office windows and
hence may destroy the Group’s documents and equipment. The management,
with assistance from the human resources department, keeps attention on the
development of the bad weather and will inform our staff to take sufficient and
necessary measures when there is an announcement of typhoon and/or rain.
Furthermore, the Group has built up a good practice many years ago to scan
all documents into electronic version and save in the computer server, and
the management information system department regularly arranges backup of
the computer server. The backup will be kept by the management information
system department and stored in safe location. In case the office windows are
destroyed by the super typhoon and resulting in the damage of the desktop
computer of our staff, we still have the backup and will not affect our daily
working.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -#HERERHRSE (&)

Transition Risks

As acting as a financial adviser/independent financial adviser (i.e. Yu Ming) to
the listed issuers as well as a securities dealer (i.e. Morton), accompanying
the regulators such as the Stock Exchange and the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC”) promote the green culture such as paperless for
registration/application, we shall continue to explore relevant risks and
opportunities to develop green services that facilitate the Group transforming
to a lower-carbon operation so as to serve the long-term needs of the
environment and consider climate resilience in our businesses in the future.

SOCIAL ISSUES

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4)

Being in the financial services industry, our people are our most important assets
that drive the long-term development and sustainability of the Group. The
Group’s policy on employment is as follows:

—  observing relevant laws and regulations;

—  being an equal-opportunity employer, implementing fair practices relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits for our staff;

—  providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and protecting our staff
from occupational hazards;

—  promoting a good work-life balance for staff;

— investing in training and professional development of our staff for the
purpose of improving their knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work; and

—  maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a transparent two
way communication.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment of staff is governed by the Employment
Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance, the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, as well as the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance.
Our compensation and benefits (including working hours, rest periods, welfare)
need to be competitive with other peers in the financial services sector and in
general exceeds the minimum as required by the relevant regulations. We also
have the policy against discrimination which makes reference to the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance and Race Discrimination Ordinance. The Group has
no known non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

1ER EMEIT A MBEER, B MR V&) R
REFXZEAEE)  RAaMIMEEFRPEER
ERZEG((BEg) SHEREHEEIMN RHsat
FHE3 - BMBEERRBERR RS - BRZ
ERY - REFAEEBRSEREE  UENREZE
HFEFR - UEBARRBFIEBZRIFEES -

HesE

BRE -RERZE2RETER(BHEHBT
B2 - B4)

FREBRBE  BIRUMKEENEE  ZHEHA
SERPBRRLRAFEREND ) - XEEBNER
EHIESEANT -

— BTEBEREER:

— ER—ETEHENEE  RMER THMNE
1B BEREAN  TIERE - B - FEKS
Tt REBARAREMEFET I ERED T

— R#EZ2 EEREBUNIIESH REEIST
BEMEEE

— REEITERAENEETE

— %%%ﬂél%”lfﬂ%fﬂ’]%ﬂ%&&&éé CRE R
RETHIREEEERE

— BETARYHE  REEHMERNER

EES  AEEERE THZ(BREED)  (REIEK

By ~ CRBIMEATEE AT BRG] Rk (R BHERH) PTR
R o JFIFN RN (BE TR - RBREN) FE
ERMRBEEXERPRE-ENHRF N - TAE—RIER
TEBERERRENREER - RATAZERD
BR - RS E CRREARED) ~ CHERIBAR GG -
(R L B AR GG R (B IR & D)) - REBAL A
MABEA N ETERES M MR E - BEREF - TIER
BRE - FERE - 2 REBEUEREMFER
BN ERRDER MR ISR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Owing to the nature of our businesses, work-related injuries, occupational
health issues and the incurrence of child labour are not significant risk factors.
Notwithstanding, the Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant
working environment for our staff. The administration department is responsible
to implement the safety and hygiene of our workplace, such as monthly office
cleaning (including cleaning of carpets, computer and telephone equipment).
We have established special work arrangements for typhoon and rainstorm
warnings to protect the safety of our staff. The management monitors the
above implementation and measures from time to time to ensure they are
adequate and up-to-date. Also, we comply with the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance to ensure occupational health and safety of our staff.
The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

During the past three years including the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group has no record on any work related fatalities nor lost days due to work
injury.

Besides, due to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic since 2020, the Group
has implemented certain protocols to protect the health and safety of our
workforce, their families, local suppliers and neighbouring communities while
ensuring a safe environment for operations to continue as usual:

. measures to maximize social distancing and staff protection within the
offices;

. meetings are held off-site or by conference calls as far as possible;

. cancellation of all non-essential travel;

. flexible and remote working plans for employees;

. self-isolation following travel, development of symptoms, or interaction
with a confirmed case of COVID-19 and requirement to undergo a
coronavirus test as and when necessary at the Company’s cost; and

. increased inventory of face masks, hand sanitiser and hygiene supplies,
and increased focus on cleaning and sanitation.

The Group does not employ staffs who are below 18 years old and prohibits
the forced labour in accordance with local employment laws and regulations.
During the recruitment process, the human resources department requires all
personnel to provide valid personal identification documents for verification
purposes, while background checks will also be carried out whenever
necessary. In the unlikely event that false information or a false identity is
discovered, the Group will address the situation by closely following the
necessary procedures in accordance with laws and regulations. The Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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In 2021, the total workforce increased 53% mainly due to the inclusion of a
newly acquired wholly-owned subsidiary, Morton, in the Group. Save for this,
there is no significant variation in employment numbers.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has a total of 29 staff (including directors
of the Company) (2020: 19), details are set out as follows:

Workforce Breakdown

By Gender
=R

MR —MFEEEEHETAT  BE - WAARSE
B - 8 BR800 =T - — I 153% « BRI - BB
ABUBEARE -

MR-B-—F+-A=+—H0 AEEHXF0LKET (B
RARRES) (CE-ZTF 1 19%)  #BEHT

BT

By Age Group
RERAER

34%

31%

14%

10%

45%

Male M Female & <36 M 36-45 M 4655 M >55

Social Indicators HEEE

Number of employees BT AE Unit By 2021’ 2020
- —E-TF

By Gender BRI

Male 3 Number N ¢ 19 14

Female zZ Number A 10 5

By Age Group RERRA R

Aged below 36 36EAT Number A 3 5

Aged 36-45 36 E455% Number AB 13 7

Aged 46-55 ABBRE555% Number A 4 3

Aged above 55 5555 A = Number ABL 9 4

By Geographical Region R &

Hong Kong S Number AB 28 19

Taiwan B Number AB 1 -

By Employment Type REEER

Permanent Staff FHXET Number AB 29 19

1

Morton.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 1 director of the Company and
2 permanent staff of the Group resigned and 3 interns of the Group left after
internship terms. Accordingly, details of the employee turnover rate are set out

RE -HERER®RE (H)

HE_Z-—F+A=1+—HIEFERN ARFNEBE
ERAEEZ IR B THTURAEBEIZE B £ 5K
FEREEER - AL - EERKRLEFBOT ¢

as follows:
Employee Turnover Rate'
EER kbR
2021° 2020

—E- ke g < S
By Gender BRI
Male s 17% 13%
Female ks 17% 0%
By Age Group RERAR
Aged below 26 265 AT 100% 100%
Aged 26-35 26552 355% 25% 17%
Aged 36-45 36572455, 7% 0%
Aged 46-55 46757 2550, 0% 0%
Aged above 55 555% A £ 10% 0%
By Geographical Region R E
Hong Kong BaE 15% 10%
Taiwan = 50% 0%

Number of person(s) in the specified category left during the year divided by the
total number of persons in the same specified category during the year.

The 2021 figure includes data of a newly acquired wholly-owned subsidiary,
Morton.

Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous learning in our
organisation. Heavy emphasis is placed on staff training which is tailored to
equip our workforce with the necessary knowledge and skills relevant to their
work, covering topics such as accounting standard, anti-money laundering
and counter-terrorist financing, as well as to build our talent pool. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had funded its directors and staff
to join relevant training programmes that meet the demands of the work place.
The Group also regularly circulate the compliance and regulatory updates to
all staff, especially for the staff who are licensed persons registered under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, approximately 97% (2020: 79%) (E_T - FF+ A=+ —HIEFE  H97% (==
TE79%) ER BT (REARRES) BEZEI (5B
[ZINALTD) - BT ER441 N (ZTFF : 346
average of 14 (2020: 18) training hours per Person Trained, detalils are set out as N RFEHEMNFIIALEIN4/NE(ZCE_F4F : 18
follows: NEF) BB ¢

of permanent staff (including directors of the Company) received training
(collectively, "Person Trained"), total training hours are 441 (2020: 346) and

Average training hours
Percentage of Person Trained (hours per Person Trained)

FHAL 193 S RF B
Btk (B ZIALHER)
2021' 2020 2021’ 2020
—E-—F —T=% —E-—F —T-TF
By Gender BRI
Male s 95% 93% 15 19
Female g 100% 60% 11 16
By Employee Category ZESER
Management BEE 95% 100% 18 21
General —EI 100% 50% 8 12
! The 2021 figure includes data of a newly acquired wholly-owned subsidiary, ! TR FMETeE-—HNKEEERE AT
Morton. Ho
Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5) HrEsEEE (BEB5)
The Group interacts with a number of business partners such as law firms, AEEMEMEL - BHLEL - HBERRZAA

EETEBRHEELY - RMOUTRAKSE %ﬁiﬂaﬁﬂ’\]
¥BEREXREIH AR - MBBERKIREE
BREANER aEENEEFED  TEREFHFLL
K BPIEZEMMERBRENTR - fINERETF
into considerations their contribution on the environmental protection such as FEATEREESMIEERAAERN - RAITPESE
using electronic form to place investment order instead of using paper. We also ERREIEAFEAC EEER R T MEERE
oo — (B BEEERETHRINEBEHIERR
UHERIBHAEGAEETEZELERY - L MCEER
BN B B EBBHE -

securities brokers, tax advisers and consulting companies. These are not
considered to pose significant environmental or social risks for our business
and engagement decisions are based on pricing, suitability as well as the
reputation of business partners. In selecting securities brokers, we also take

strictly monitor and prohibit any kinds of business bribery and discrimination
against any business partners. Once engaged, the performance of business
partners are then reviewed from time to time by the management on an on-
going basis, so as to guarantee the delivery of quality services that meet the
needs of the Group. The above practices are applied to and implemented on
all our business partners.

HEZZ-_—F+-A=+—HLEFER  ~"EEET
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group engaged with 20
business partners which situated in Hong Kong.
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Service Responsibility (Aspect B6)
Service Quality

AEENEBZFEGRE  MRAMEHBREAHE

The Group’s business is regulated by the SFC and our two subsidiaries
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are licensed corporations under SFO. As at 31 December 2021, all front-
line professional employees of the subsidiaries were properly licensed and
registered with the SFC. 6 employees were responsible officers and 6 were
licensed representatives. All responsible officers have over 10 years’ experience
in their respective fields.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Group gains new business through marketing initiatives, referrals from
existing clients and professional firms and the personal connections of directors
or employees of the Group. In this regard, the Group places great emphasis
on building clients’ loyalty by providing them with prompt, competent and
unbiased professional services.

Throughout its operations, the Group conforms to the requirements of the rules
and regulations of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the SFC, the
Stock Exchange and other regulatory authorities, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, the Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered
with the SFC, the Corporate Finance Adviser Code of Conduct, the Guidelines
on Competence, and the Hong Kong Sponsor Due Diligence Guidelines. When
conducting the Group’s business activities, all employees are required to be
aware of the Group’s reputation and act with the highest level of integrity and
professional ethics.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to our services
provided.

Owing to the nature of our businesses, the products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons as well as the quality assurance process
and recall procedures are not significant risk factors. Notwithstanding, the
Group endeavours to maintain good service quality for our clients.

Privacy of Client Information and Data Protection

The Group respects and values the privacy of all client information. In compliance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Group collects and uses client
information in a responsible and non-discriminatory manner, restricting the use
of the client information as required by the confidentiality clause included in the
mandate. All employees are required to maintain strict confidentiality about the
affairs of the Group. Employees are not allowed to disclose to other individuals
or third parties, directly or indirectly, exploit or use confidential information
concerning the Group and its clients. These requirements on handling the
confidential information have been incorporated in our Employee Handbook. The
management monitors the above implementation from time to time to ensure it is
up-to-date.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there have been no cases or
complaints in relation to violation of relevant confidentiality laws.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -#HERERHRSE (&)

Client Feedback Handling

Feedback and suggestions from clients provide an opportunity for the Group
to enhance the quality of its services in a sustainable manner. The Group is
committed to responding and resolving all clients’ enquiries and comments
promptly and with care in order to maintain and improve our reputation in
the corporate finance advisory industry. In compliance with the Group’s
internal guidelines on complaint handling procedures, the Group is required to
investigate each case, work out a solution and provide a written response to
the complainant promptly upon receipt of a complaint.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not receive any
material complaints regarding the services it provided.

Intellectual Property

We respect intellectual property rights, including but not limited to trademarks,
patents and copyrights. Employees shall not privately use or allow outside
parties to possess and exploit intellectual property, unless permission has been
obtained by copyright owners. Employees are required to notify the department
head before the use of any name, slogan or mark for any product, program
or service. To safeguard our own intellectual property, the management
information system department carries out periodic inspection of employees’
computers, thus ensuring that genuine software is installed.

Anti-Corruption (Aspect B7)

As a financial service provider, one of the Group’s social responsibilities is to
prevent and detect money-laundering. The Group has established the “Anti-
Money Laundering Policy” that sets out the general framework for the Group to
combat money laundering and financing of terrorism. The Code of Conduct in
our Employee Handbook also sets out the standards of behavior of directors
and staff expected by the Group and the guidelines on how to handle different
situations in business dealings.

A Whistle Blower Policy has been established to facilitate the direct reporting
of any unlawful conduct, any incident of corruption, avoidance of internal
control, incorrect or improper financial or other reporting to senior management
by our employee and those who deal with the Group. This policy is reviewed
by the audit committee of the Company annually and either circulated to our
employees periodically or placed on the corporate electronic platform of the
Group to facilitate their easy access and reporting. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group has no record on any concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or our employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company organised an online
anti-corruption training to the directors of the Company and the staff of the
Group by inviting the partner of a Hong Kong law firm, acting as the speaker.
Through this training with practical case studies, the attendees enhanced their
understanding on the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and increased their
awareness of the corruption risks businesses face.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment (Aspect B8)

We strive to excel and undertake the responsibility of a good corporate citizen
contributing to the community by encouraging our staff to enroll in charity
and social services. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
sponsored in cash the activities organised by Lifewire Foundation Limited,
V Foundation Limited, Hong Kong Council of Early Childhood Education
& Services Limited, Kids4Kids Limited and Act Plus Education Foundation
Limited, with an aggregate amount of over HK$60,000, because we share the
similar missions with these organisations. Everyone deserves to be treated
equally no matter their age, gender or background. Lifewire Foundation Limited
aims to ignite compassion and rally together like-minded individuals to protect
disenfranchised children with rare disease in the community. V Foundation
Limited aims to pass on the humanistic spirits of optimism, perseverance,
care and mutual assistance through life on life interaction. Hong Kong
Council of Early Childhood Education & Services Limited supports children
from low-income and disadvantages families so that all children may enjoy
their numerous education services under non-economic burden and joyful
conditions. Kids4Kids Limited equips young people to be socially responsible
and active agents of change. Act Plus Education Foundation Limited provides
forward-looking and innovative education, employment support and life
planning services for poor youths, and is committed to cultivating young
people’s computer art creation and communication skills, and exploring their
personal potential.

Beyond our charitable activities, the Group is honoured to involved, supported
and contributed in a variety of professional associations, Chambers and non-
profit organisations, including Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies.

*

For identification purpose only

RE -HERER®RE (H)

ﬁi—*:—¢+ A=+t—RLFERN AREEE

FRBERMEBHZAYAREESE  BEAF
%$&$%§§I$WT—%&§5@iF* o BB
BIEEBEREDNIT - 200E IR T 8 P 1L FE R %
DIy 2R - WikS TREHEHEBRES AR Z B &

ME-B-—F+-A=t—BILEER  AEELT
MEHRR BB - BE - RERABEN
BRI -

HERE (BHEBS)

BMBOBERSE  TERFEME T2 MES Rk
% REEARFCEAREMEEBNER -HEZT
T AT HEFERN  AEEUR S ER) .
HEREESARAR VESESBRAR - BE4
BHERREHESERARN ERESHR AR R
EEHEESERARRNZIES - 54 HiB60,000
B BRRRMEELEWEBS BB F - BREF
B MRISKERMME - FEARESDFZEHF o e
W“%%%fﬁ@“ﬂﬁﬁ*%E%%Amﬁl?%m
HEBERZBERE - VESESER AR EEHER
M%\iﬁ$%~%®E%ZAiﬁw%%Tz*u$
MEBED c BENRHRERBRBHEERAFZIER
WA&%*%?Z%?’&E EMTE S EAE T AR
2 EMPIRETRZHRE RS - ERESBRA RIS
EFRANMEEAR  BMRAEENAIZE
é;ﬂ%%fﬁ@ RREESVFRH wﬁﬂﬁZﬁ
CHEIEREERERY  RNBESLFEHE
m@ﬁ&ﬁLmﬁ’¥HMA@%°

BRERZEBI  REBERKFZZE - RHESIENRHE
BEREXNHE  HEEANER  ETFEEEELD
RAEE °

© O EHEER

ABERERERAT 20214 %

65



66

Independent Auditor’s Report
¥ 3L # BB R

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

E:E © +852 2218 8288
{%E : +852 2815 2239

25t™ Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Da Yu Financial
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 71 to 155, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s “Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible
assets

The Group had goodwill of carrying amount of approximately HK$302,965,000
(2020: approximately HK$302,965,000) and intangible assets of carrying amount
of approximately HK$66,141,000 (2020: approximately HK$79,963,000) as at 31
December 2021. Management has performed an impairment review in accordance
with the requirements of Hong Kong Accounting Standards 36 “Impairment of
Assets”. Recoverable amounts of cash-generating units to which the goodwill and
intangible assets belong were determined based on value in use calculations, which
include significant assumptions and judgements made by management concerning
estimated future cash flows. We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
and intangible assets as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and because this area involves a significant degree
of judgement and estimation made by management, in particular the estimation of
future cash flows and discount rate.

Refer to Note 4 “Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty” and Note 16 “Goodwill” and Note 17 “Intangible assets” to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets included:

- Assessing the scope, expertise and independence of the independent
professional valuer appointed by the Group;

- Discussing cash flow projections with senior management of the Group;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the sources of data and key assumptions
used by management based on our knowledge of the business and industry;

- Utilising auditor’s expert’s work when considering the appropriateness of the
major assumptions in the value in use calculations;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the impairment calculation; and

- Performing sensitivity analysis including assessing the effect of a reasonably
possible change in discount rate and cash flows

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIAGHMKRSE (F)

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility
in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concermn

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concemn.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BIAGHMKRSE (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Cheung Or Ping

Practising Certificate no. P05412
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

2021 2020
—B-—& —E-TE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE FHET FHTT
Revenue & 5 59,476 110,666
Other net income Hb A F58 5 547 928
Other net financial loss Hib B 18 $ 5 7 (9,785) (3,898)
Employee benefit expense EEEFRX 8 (17,769) (24,470)
Impairment losses on trade receivables B 5 RN FIE 2 FEEE (4,988) ©92)
Administrative and other expenses TR REAMRES (23,742) (24,313)
Finance costs BhE R AR 10 (145) (48)
Profit before income tax BRFr 188 AT R R 11 3,594 58,773
Income tax expense SR> 12 (2,459) (10,065)
Profit and total comprehensive RRATEE AER
income for the year attributable to the BEERFR
owners of the Company 2EWRAEE 1,135 48,708
Earnings per share attributable to the AATHEEAEEER
owners of the Company (HK cent(s)) Z 7 GBAL) 13
- Basic - ZN 0.10 4.28
~ Diluted —#58 0.10 4.28

RESBERERAA 2021 F#

71



72

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

GEMBRRAR

As at 31 December 2021
RoZ-—F+=-A=1+—H

2021 2020
—B-—F —E T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
7 FHT FHT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 15 172 235
Goodwil EES 16 302,965 302,965
Intangible assets B EE 17 66,141 79,963
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 18 3,948 378
Other assets Hi&EE 19 200 =
373,426 383,541
Current assets REVEE
Contract assets BREE 20 592 53
Trade and other receivables, deposits paid and & 5 R EMEWGIIE « BEfHEE R
prepayments FEfFRIE 21 7,081 6,480
Amount due from a related company e — R REES A RIFOB 22 4,452 31,659
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ?ﬁ@$@ﬁ)\?ﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁ§@$@§+]\?§
(“FVPL”) ) B EE 23 14,326 9,186
Client trust bank balances B {EERITE 24 180,193 -
Cash and cash equivalents BERREEEY 25 99,027 84,016
305,671 131,394
Current liabilities REEE
Contract liabilities AHBE 20 11,307 13,969
Trade and other payables and accrued expenses & 5 & H 4 &S 5008 & FEGTH 2 26 184,682 14,906
Lease liabilities ﬁ%@lﬁ 18 3,636 390
Taxation payable FEHITE 1,849 7,247
201,474 36,512
Net current assets REBEERH 104,197 94,882
Total assets less current liabilities EERERRDAR 477,623 478,423
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 346 -
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEE E 27 10,913 13,194
11,259 13,194
Net assets BEE 466,364 465,229
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
GEMBMRAE (F)

As at 31 December 2021
RZZEZ—F+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—B-—& —E-TE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Pt FHET FET
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to the owners of the RATEE AES
Company R

Share capital (&N 28 113,933 113,933
Reserves &t 29 352,431 351,296
Total equity R 466,364 465,229

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 155 were approved and FT1EE15BMNGRAMBEREN_S__F=A=-_+HAE
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) on 25 AREEEE ([EFTE)IERFETIE YHATESEAEK

March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Wa Lun, Warren
THEy
Director

EF

BE

Kuo Jen-Hao
FAK
Director

EBF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GREDEEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

(Accumulated

losses)/
Share Share retained Total
capital premium earnings equity
(Note 28) (Note 29)
(R&tEE)
IR RDEE REEF BB
(Fff 5£28) (Pt 5E29)
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FERT FHET
At 1 January 2020 RZZT=_TF—A—H 113,933 431,023 (128,435) 416,521
Profit and total comprehensive income AEE RN REE
for the year Was 858 - - 48,708 48,708
At 31 December 2020 R-E-ZEF+—A=+—H
and 1 January 2021 k—Z——4%—F—H 113,933 431,023 (79,727)" 465,229
Transferred share premium to EEROREZREE
accumulated loss (Note) (FsE) - (431,023) 431,023 -
Profit and total comprehensive income AFEEMBFNRER
for the year a8 58 - - 1,135 1,135
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—f+-A=+—H 113,933 - 352,431 466,364

The aggregate amount of those balances of approximately #

HK$352,431,000 and approximately HK$351,296,000 represents
the reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively.

Note: Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at F3E

the annual general meeting of the Company on 28 May 2021, all
amount of approximately HK$431,023,000 standing to the credit
of the share premium account was reduced and cancelled and that
of the credit arising from the share premium reduction be applied
to offset the entire amount of the accumulated losses of the
Company as at 31 December 2020 and the remaining balance of
the credit arising from the share premium reduction be transferred
to the retained earnings account.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A\ =HE
GERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HLFE

2021 2020
—B-—& —E-TE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B FHET FHT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHREBRERNE
Profit before income tax B ET S8 AT 3,594 58,773
Adjustments for: FIEE
Advisory fee income settled in shares AR 458 2 R B R WA - (12,000)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BEREETE 15 190 175
Amortisation on intangible assets S Y 17 13,180 17,063
Intangible assets derecognition upon contract RE TR IETER
completion | EE 17 642 720
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 18 3,337 1,513
Fair value loss including interest income on financial 322 FEFH ABRNFEEE 2
assets at FVPL N EERE (BIEHNEWA) 9,987 4,277
Finance costs BERA 10 145 48
Dividend income LN (Y] -
Interest income F A (195) (379)
Impairment losses on trade receivables B 5 EWFIE 2 REEE 21 4,988 92
Operating cash flows before working capital EERCHEANEEERR S
changes mE 35,861 70,282
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHEEGEM RS (539) 97
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables, B 5 Kk EMEKZIE - EMIRE KR
deposits paid and prepayments BRI g ) R (4,683) 9,944
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from U — 1 BRE R A1 5E
a related company w ($gn) 27,207 (26,757)
Increase in client trust bank balance B ErEIRITARRE N (174,215) =
Decrease in contract liabilities SEHEERD (2,662) (2,231)
Increase in trade and other payables and B 5 R H A EARIE R
accrued expenses FEETF 163,549 4,331
Change in financial assets at FVPL BRAFEFABRNIREEES (11,787) (370)
Cash generated from operations KEPMSIHRE 32,731 55,296
Taxation paid BEHE (10,138) (9,943)
Interest received BUFE 195 379
Dividend received BEAR S 7 -
Net cash generated from operating activities KEEBFTSIR ST 22,795 45,732
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

= Ry~ — =]
GERERER(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=1t—HI1tFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —E T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iE=3 FHExT FHT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHRESRERE
Interest received from financial assets at B BIR AT EF ABRH
FVPL MR EERS 315 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE - BEKRE (100) (23)
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition WE—HNERARMELE RS
of a subsidiary L FEE 34 (4,539) =
Net cash used in investing activities BEEBTRRSFE (4,324) (23)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHERLSRE
Repayment of principal portion of the lease BEEHEARE
liabilities e & D (3,315) (1,520)
Interest paid BEAFE (145) (48)
Net cash used in financing activities REEBFTAR S T8 (3,460) (1,568)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BERBSESEYIZNFHR 15,011 44,141
Cash and cash equivalents at REFEAZEER
beginning of year REEEY 84,016 39,875
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year REEERZRERESEEY 25 99,027 84,016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 9 September 1999. The address of
the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is Room 1801, 18th Floor, Allied Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in activities
including dealing in securities, advising on securities, advising on corporate
finance, asset management and securities and related services.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective on
1 January 2021

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new/revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are relevant to and
effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 January 2021.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent

Concessions
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, — Phase 2

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

The adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs has no significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

AP HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-—F+-_fA=+—HILFE

—RERREREE

AaeZERERAE ([RAE]) AR—AANFNA
NBEERSHESTMKZZBERARF o KRR ZEM
YR BR 3 A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & £
FEEEMBUR BB ETETITE138REEES A
E18#1801E « RARRMHNEEMERZAERLD
Al ([BEZFr]) 7 o

AR/ HREZERARAREMBERR (RERIAE
B IEXFEHREEFRS  REFRUER 3
HEREREER  RUEEEELES MERRT -

R RIET B BN BREER
(IEEMBHREED])

21 BRMHET RETERBUBRELE
B-R-ZB--—F-A—HER

RAFE  NEEERERATHEESEA
e ((BEEMAS)BEM BER-_F_—F—
H— ARtz FE MR ERER R MBHEK
BB EERZ ] ER BB BREE
al -

EBPRELBIF165E 2019B MR ESHAE
({BETA) BHSER
EBGFTERFEI95 - FIREE
EBUBRELEDFL KRE-F_BER
5% BB RS AR
BTH - BAMBHRE
HAFIH R EBYHG
X F 165 (BT

iy

BRNZEHR] BRI B MR E ER B A S
EeGAPERRLBEATE
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs 2. ] KEFTEBHBHE%EL

(Continued) (%)
2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 22 EHEMEMRERZHT LIEET
are not yet effective BBV KEHRELER
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s REENEIR BN T Al e AR R AR & B 75
consolidated financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet HERBBEEBRMEERER I IMEFTES
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. RS RAS ZER ©
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions ERUEREERNE16E R_T=_—FA=1H
beyond 30 June 2021° ({B3TA) %2019 M F SR
RN ER"
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual ERPHMELRNFER  LEMMER
Framework?® { /ETZM
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — BAGERIZFE 16557 W - BB Rk — 1ER
Proceeds before Intended Use” ({BFTA) T RBR AR FTER0R
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a BB ERIEITHR BERAN-BITAHN
Contract? (E=TA) BRA?
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS BATBREER - )\FE-T-THF
Standards 2018-20207 ((CHEN] BB RELEA N F
f ki
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related EAHMELAEITE RBRERKBEER
Amendments®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BEAGTEREIR HEEIBEARBARE
Non-current and related amendments ({BFTA) SR B EERAMA
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)° BRERBESR 2B
(2020%)°
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates® BAEGFERIESTR gimERE
CHEN
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies® BEREGTEREIR (5T SEBRZIBE
HKFRS Practice A REBUBIREE
Statement 2 AIEBIWEFE 25 (BT
)
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption ERUEREERNELT ERERSBVEHREE
from Applying HKFRS 9° CHEN) Bl FOR RS EA R
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between EAMBEELAFE10 REFEABRLATNE
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint REAGHERIFSH ArECRNEELE
Venture* (CHEY) CIoEd-
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 ! RZTZ—FMA Ak ERRNFES
AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 2 R-B-_—F—A Bz &FRARNFELD
HEZY
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 ¢ R =F—A— Az %HBHFEED
HEZS
¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be ! RFE B Hisk 2 BRI FE R £
determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs 2. &#Hi &ETE B BERELEL
(Continued) (#&)

2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 22 CEMEBMREM T KBTI

are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current is based on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected by
expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in existence if
covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period. The
amendments also introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear
that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the Amendments
to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision to HK Int 5
(2020) updates the wordings in the interpretation to align with the
Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion and do not
change the existing requirements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

BBMBHEER &)

BEBETERIFE1% (1557 X) [#48
ERERBRBEELHFRBERER
HEEEZBEESHK Z 55T (2020
F)J

ZEEEIMA - AR EARESSERE I E
R ERFENERN - SR DBEIXEH
ERETSTERERBEARNENNTERY
B URBMERSHRETREE - AERNAE
7 o ZEER]MEIATREEINER @ RS
HEERRE RATLA - HtvEENRGEE
FRUHTT -

A Hf
=%
=
T

BAREELSR C020F) ER=—T_TF/\A%
BB AERIE 15 (BFTA) MELEET -
ISR B AR IEESR (2020F) E3 7T R EFHH
FEBY LAE@%% FTZERIZE1 5% (BT AR) — B
BERITESEE)  STSESIRITRE °

BEEBEERE1H (155 F) REE

BB & EREHEEF29 (155]

) [EFtBEZHE ]

SEHEUERLIERT - MIEXREFBRE
ﬂjﬁwﬁﬁﬁfig SRR —& o W& EHBER
B — AR IS RR A A E B — Gt
ZEE  JREBHMerE - RAEMBEREE
REREREZFMERRELARE - RIS

ZEERARIES - BFITBRREFR AT HERRS
MIEE - Rt =R mEEA - RSB
TERX - A - WEMEREARS - EEMF

\ﬂ#ﬁ%@ﬁ’] ABEREMAGHBEX - HE
-F ?‘&%#EK FTHERER - RIZFERT
/E'tﬁ% AREETHERER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs 2. ] KEFTEBHBHEAEL
(Continued) (%)

2.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 22 BEMEMKRERZHT KB

80

are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, the proceeds from selling such items, and the
cost of producing those items, is recognised in profit or loss.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts -
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the “cost of fulfilling” a contract
comprises the “costs that relate directly to the contract”. Costs that
relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) or an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used
in fulfilling the contract).

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the potential
impact of these new/revised HKFRSs and the Board so far concluded
that the application of these new/revised HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

3.2

Statement of compliance and basis of
measurement

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Group made up to 31st December, each year.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 155 have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which collective term includes
all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial instruments classified
as financial assets at FVPL which are stated at fair values. The
measurement bases are fully described in the accounting policies
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and
judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are described
in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation and business
combination

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are excluded from consolidation from
the date that control ceases. The results of the subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the effective date of acquisition or up
to the effective date of the disposal, as appropriate.

GEMBHEEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

3. EXSHHERHE

3.1

3.2
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

(%)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

@K

3.

To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation and business

combination (Continued)

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on
intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying
asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’s perspective.
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they are
incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the measurement
period (@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about the
fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

3.

B BERHE ()

3.2

mEREREHZEEE)

SEEKERRZEAZMEEBRNRS - &8
RARER W S &Eﬁ?@ﬂ%%%ﬁéﬁﬁ&i&iﬁ%
i o REABEEHE 2 ARBRBENGS IR
R - ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁé%ﬁ??&ﬂS%lZﬁlELﬁﬂ
EAR - MBARANBREAZABS SR
FEREH AR - AHEREAREE RN S5
REM— -

R BT B8 22 R Sk 375 T A BB A A BR o BB AR
BASE(ERWBEH) BB ZEE  EEZE
AN BT 2 RN URHE A B 2 AP ERRERTE -
PRS2 Al BRI B EE T AdE 2 B RIR S
BEIZ AFEAE - REEEAAREET 2
Ptz i B B 2 NP EEFAE Pﬁ?izﬁﬁ
ERERER - AEERERR HEEBRAT
BRI AT FEEZ ﬁ‘JﬁE?E
it BN N IS A B 2 A HEHER) ©
FEBYBIREERRECMEMTERE E
RIprE EA IR S IR A T ER & - TEAE
ZWHEARRER AN T3 - BRIERR S AT B
TTIRATARESE - EZBERT - BAKRABE
R HIRR ©

WHETT 8 T8 R AR AREBREBRHZA
FEER - HRHRE I BBEERNHEIRERNET
EBH(REAWHE BB+ —ER) AFAEEE
FARUEE B R EZ AR - 5 AR B
R e Pﬁﬁﬁ‘rﬂl ‘*EHQF&EEZ&W(RFZE
& BRI IR FERR

ARG BT A R 2 A as B AN I R B R AR
4 - RIFIMEREERRZ S AR o ANRE 2 s EIE
PR 2 BRI ES T LA » ARBRE RS
NERE S 2 B E) o IR 2 AR
ENSKERREATEZ R EMER - 95E
RIEZER - URBRARRHEBA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

3.3

3.4

Basis of consolidation and business
combination (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest; and (i) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling interests
even if this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are investees over which the Group is able to exercise
control. The Group controls investees if all three of the following
elements are present: power over the investees, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investees, and the ability to use its power
to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in a
subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment loss (Note 3.18)
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date.
All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.

Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities exceed the
aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree,
the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after
re-assessment.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

@K

To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4

3.5

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU is
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount with
its recoverable amount, and whenever there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual asset’s
carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal (if
measurable) or its value in use (“VIU") (if determinable), whichever is
the higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is fair
value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as
follows. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation expense
is recognised in profit or loss and included in administrative and other
expenses.

Investment management agreement 29 months
Backlog 3 years
Tradename 20 years
Securities and Futures Commission Indefinite

(the “SFC”) licences

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5

3.6

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment when there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment annually, irrespective of whether there is any
indication that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts (Note 3.18).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its
revaluation surplus.

Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

dollars (“HK$”),
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except

which is also the functional currency of the Company

when otherwise indicated.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined and are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

@K
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To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been converted
into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at the
closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses have been
converted into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates, or at average rates over the reporting period provided that the
exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising
from this procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in the translation reserve in
equity.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of

property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their
cost over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis at the
following rates per annum.

4

Office equipment b

=

Leasehold improvements HE

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and its
carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASiHFEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.8 Leases 3.8 #HE

The Group as lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases)
are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-
term leases and/or (i) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-
value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12 months. The
lease payments associated with those leases have been expensed on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would comprise: (i)
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below
for the accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets the
definition of an investment property or a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the Group applies the revaluation model, the
Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under
the cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.8 Leases (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date
of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable; (i) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (i) amounts expected to be payable by
the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of
a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect
any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a change in
the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease payments or a
change in assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—H+_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASiHFEMEE)

POLICIES (Continued)

MBEE

3.9 Financial assets 3.9

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant
financing component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirely when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment
of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
rate method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”): Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Debt
investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value.
Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEUBHREME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVPL: Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition at FVPL,
or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at
FVPL, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria
for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI,
as described above, debt instruments may be designated at FVPL
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for
trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s FVOCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are
measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or loss.
All other equity instruments are classified as FVPL, whereby changes
in fair value, dividends and interest income are recognised in profit or

loss.
Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECL”)
on trade receivables, contract assets, financial assets measured at
amortised cost and debt investments measured at FVOCI. The ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs:
these are the ECLs that result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is
then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original effective
interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based
on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-month
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating
ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based on the
Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

@K

To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.9

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non-credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights
to the future cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

3.10 Cash and cash equivalents

3.11

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amount of cash, and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks and other financial
institutions, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost, are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—H+_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASiHFEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.12 Share Capital 3.12 R
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. L@ DR AER -
Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are ERIBBEEITRG 2R 5HA B R N Ef]
deducted from share capital (net of any related income tax benefits) to MEAEER) IR - EAZERR Z EEE
the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity IR AR ©
transaction.

3.13 Revenue recognition 3.13 W=ER
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services W IR AR P ERFTREREH S EBRER - Mk
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which SRERMERBEARZERGREMANRE - &
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. BmE « ANEES|ARERKG 2 AESE

Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customers F—F BRRBRFPIILZEL

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract FE2H  BRIEATHNBEORE

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price F=N BEERHE

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price FOY  DERHE

Step5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a FRY  R(EE) BRTENERNE TRFRERIE

performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation NEBREHNETERTEIEBEHNEET TR

is satisfied, i.e. when “Control” of the services underlying the particular SR[P4 | R T R fEd Uk o

performance obligation is transferred to the customers.

Control of the services may be transferred over time or at a point in AR A 22 ) 4 B D — ER B R A Bl A 3 — B R B

time. Control of the services is transferred over time if: % o AN E 5B ARFS 15 e A — ER PR P OB -

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the = REMEEERANARES I EEERE
benefits provided by the entity’s performance as the entity [EAIFT TR AL A RIS ¢
performs;

- the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that = RNEERBNSEIERINBRE R ENEE
the customer controls as the Group performs; or BT SIMEE 5 5

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an = NEBRBATNSAIERTRAER S EMA
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable WEE » BAREBEHIZSTRNBANK
right to payment for performance completed to date. 7 Al R FIBTTAYIER o

If control of the services transfer over time, revenue is recognised ARSI S fEE —ER PSR N EERE - WS TIRE 4

over the period of the contract by reference to the progress complete H2REHETERmTTKAERER - B8 Uk

satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is AR P EUS ARSI I E RS R BhFERR o

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEUBHREME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

3.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Advisory fee income and related services

Advisory fee income from providing specified financial advisory
services and acting as independent financial adviser are
recognised over time as services are performed if the Group
has a legally enforceable right to payment for all services
provided through the end of the contract or termination date.
For other advisory contracts in which the Group does not has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date at all times throughout the duration of the contract,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the services
for the transactions are completed under the terms of each
engagement and the revenue can be measured reliably, as only
at that time the Group has a present right to payment from the
customers for the service performed.

Advisory fee income from provision of services under retainers
is recognised over time based on contractual terms specified
in the underlying agreements, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance as the entity performs and the revenue can be
measured reliably.

Commission based and other services are recognised at a point
in time when the services for the transactions are completed
under the terms of each engagement and the revenue can be
measured reliably, as only at that time the Group has a present
right to payment from the customers for the service performed.

The Group recognises revenue from providing advisory
service in exchange for non-cash consideration, usually equity
instruments issued by counterparties, at the fair value of the
non-cash consideration measured as of the date when the
Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument, which is the date when the advisory agreement
becomes unconditional and all parties become bound by the
terms set out in the agreement. The fair value of the equity
instruments received or receivable is determined in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy by reference to the quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets. If the Group
is not able to reliably determine the fair value of non-cash
consideration in some situations, the value of the non-cash
consideration received or receivable is measured indirectly by
reference to the standalone selling price of advisory services
provided by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Management fee income

Management fee income from provision of investment
management services is recognised over time based on
contractual terms specified in the underlying investment
management agreement, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits providing by the entity’s
performance as the Group performs and the revenue can be
measured reliably.

Performance fee income

Performance fee income based on the performance of the
investment company (i.e. the customer) is a form of variable
consideration in its contract with the customer to provide
investment management services. Performance fee income is
earned based on the performance of the investment company
during the year/period, subject to the achievement of high
water mark, in accordance with the respective terms set out
in the investment management agreement. Performance fee
income will not be recognised as revenue until (a) it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur, or (b) the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

Commission income

Commission income for brokerage business are recognised on
execution of purchase, sales or other transactions or services
by the Group on behalf of its clients.

Underwriting, sub-underwriting, placing and sub-placing
commissions are recognised at a point in time when the
relevant services completed in accordance with the terms of
underlying agreement or deal mandate.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

v)

(vi)

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis
using the effective interest method, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on the initial recognition.

Sundry income

Sundry income from provision of day-to-day management
(including office administration and operation) is recognised
over time as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as
the Group performs and the revenue can be measured reliably.

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in

exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a customer

that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the

Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of

time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer

services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration

(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASiHFEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Employee benefits 3.14 EEREF

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through a defined
contribution plan.

The Group participates in a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “MPF Scheme”), for all
of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group’s obligation
under the MPF Scheme is limited to the fixed percentage contributions
payable.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

As at 31 December 2021, there were no forfeited contributions
available to offset future employers’ contributions to the MPF Scheme
(2020: approximately HK$6,000). During the year ended 31 December
2021, forfeited contribution of approximately HK$6,000 (2020: Nil)
was utilised to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

3.15 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction or
production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period
of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.
Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset
when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are
being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

3.16 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations
to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior
reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the
year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses
available to be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits,
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASiHFEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.16 FTfEH 2 &5t 7% ()

3.16 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if, and
only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in
net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

0] the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

BRI EDRIRENHB AR - BERRK
BECEMELRRTEEZREM T IARR - H
REEESEHI TR R RO R EREEET
ENE IR RS R @ AR -

EREBRIEN TR - WIRTRHIEAMEZE BB
EREEPRRZHEAE  EREANRER R
ERMARER EE A -

MR IR & E s B (B SN A 2 e FNFR 3
FPAZIEB AR E R AR - AIBRE
PE B A2 e sl B MR o

REERTIER TS AR5 E B EEE
REHBRAE

(@)  ANEREEEARLAIRBIIT 2R
DHERZEE &

) BERFEEELENRRERFERE
EaE-

%&E%TWF%T'$%@@M%QEWEE
HEEERELEHEARE

(@) HERAEEELAIEHIITZEN ALY
HBREEHEERTARE &

() ELEFIBEERELERIEEEDERR—
m%%@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@&W@kﬁ Lmﬁ
BEREEZSERNRLERE @ 3
i) A —ERBIEE 3k
(ii) TRERBEERE (ZEEREER

@%%ﬁ%iiﬂﬂ‘ R OB
BB B ZMmE

ABRERERERAF 2021 5K

29



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEUBHREME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related

to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control of the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions apply:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

100

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASiHFEMEE)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Related parties (Continued) 3.17 BB S (&)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

3.18 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
and investment in a subsidiary are subject to impairment testing.

It is tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the
asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a CGU). As a
result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some
are tested at CGU level.

Impairment losses recognised for CGUs are charged pro rata to the
assets in the CGU, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost to sell, or value in
use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount
and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no
impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

@K

To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.19 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision-maker (the
“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

3.20 Provisions and contingent liabilities

3.21

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of
which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the statement of financial position and transferred
to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable and are recognised as other revenue, rather than reducing
the related expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year/period in which
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year/period or in the
year/period of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current
and future years.

(@) Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies

Deferred taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the amount of
deferred taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the deferred taxes in the period in which such determination is
made.

GEMBHEEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFE
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBERME

(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
2o —F+-A=+—ALFE

@K

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, other key sources of estimation uncertainty that have
a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within next financial year are as
follows:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
3.18. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates about future cash flows and discount rates. In the
process of estimating expected future cash flows management makes
assumptions about future revenues and profits. These assumptions
relate to future events and circumstances. The actual results may
vary and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
goodwill within the next financial year. Determining the appropriate
discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment for
market risk and for asset specific risk factors. Details of the estimates
of the recoverable amounts of CGUs containing goodwill are disclosed
in Note 16.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment allowances of financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral
values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of
a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of
allowances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4. FEZeitdERATITEERZENE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY ERIR (&)

(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) fEFFFBREERRZEERIE (&)
(Continued)
Impairment allowances of financial assets B EEE R ERE ()
(Continued)
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a REREEH  ARAEKBBYERBEEHE
significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition 1R B 2 e TR B R B A R E KRR
by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected life HETHR - LFHEBEVTHERAURGEERRES
between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The BREERM - AREIBILEE RBERBEANE
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is BERAKE NMAANEGERASFEENE
relevant and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. B EREREEREERARBIEESHT

This includes quantitative and qualitative information and also,
forward-looking analysis.

REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME 5. WERHEMBARE
All of the Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers for the HE_ T - FR-_T_TF+-_A=+—HILtFE "
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. AEBFREREIREEREFHEL
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) DIFWE
2021 2020
—BEC--F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
Type of services R 3% %851
Advisory and related services B8R R AR RE AR 7S 36,700 66,415
Asset management services BEEEERE 17,246 43,152
Securities and related services 755 & AR R AR 4,484 =
Sundry income HMIFUA 1,046 1,099
59,476 110,666
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 25 B B
At a point in time PRI F I 2 11,884 17,524
Transferred over time R—EBERERER 47,592 93,142
59,476 110,666
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME
(Continued)

5. W@k HAWAFE (F)

(b) Transaction price allocated to remaining (b) PTEEHTEIAEENRZE
performance obligations
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the aggregate amount of the RZBZ—FRZZ-_ZF+_A=+—H ' 5H
transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are REERAOEANR HELBIL REIT (EHHH K
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$32,500,000 E11) % R#932,500,000/% 7T & 340,200,000
and approximately HK$40,200,000 respectively. The transaction price BIT - RGBETRIEEMAIZRENGFTES5E -
does not include any estimated amounts of variable consideration, BIENRE B - AEBGBE IR ENRE
unless at the reporting date it is highly probable that the Group will RMEHE - REBTERIN AR 121E A LEXEZ\’UEE
satisfy the conditions of variable consideration. The Group expects to B BB ER ARG - BURRE 89&3K °
recognise the amount as revenue when the performance obligations FINRREKER TR R TR o
are satisfied in coming 12 months, depending on the contract terms.
The following table shows the time band for remaining performance
obligations to be satisfied.
2021 2020
B —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Remaining performance obligations FEHIRA LU T BRI AS S ALY
expected to be satisfied during: BRTEAEME:
the year ended HE_T-_—F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2021 FFE - 40,200
the year ending HE-ZT-_—F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2022 HFE 32,500 =
(Note) (P 3E) 32,500 40,200

The information about the Group’s performance obligations is
disclosed in Note 3.13. Payment is due based on contractual terms
specified in the underlying agreements.

Note:

According to HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the
amount of remaining performance obligations above did not include a
significant advisory transaction subject to conditions, which is expected to
be settled within next two years, because according to its mandate, as at
31 December 2021:

[0] there are uncertainties surrounding the actual amount to be
received;

(i) the range for the final amounts to be received is wide, the worst of it
being nil;

(iii) the uncertainty about the amount of advisory entitlement fee is not
expected to be resolved within a short period of time; and

(iv) there is no substantial commercial reality to ascertain the amount of
the advisory entitlement fee.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—H+_A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME 5. W&=KkHEAUKASFEE(E)
(Continued)
(c) Other netincome (c) HAWAFEE
2021 2020
—BEC--F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Sub-lease income and management income SR A K& EIZIA 546 =
Exchange gain, net B 5 e S5 1 226
Government grant (Note) BT RE (i 5E) - 702
547 928
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group applied for a Wi 2T =_TF+-_A=1T—HLFE ' K
government support program introduced in response to the global EEEFTHEERRANRITHERN X FHT
pandemic. Included in profit or loss is HK$702,000 of government 2 RERPEEEIEAEEEEFEX
grants obtained relating to supporting the payroll of the Group’s 1B B MR AT B 702,000/ 7T - AEEE B
employees. The Group has presented this government grant in other BT B E U A JF R R o AREE N
net income. The Group had to commit to spending the assistance BREGE R A AR & X W E — R
on payroll expenses, and not reducing employee head count below RTBEE TABRDERENRFLT o &K
prescribed levels for a specified period of time. The Group does not SES AT ARBEITHRIL BB ENER -
have any unfulfilled obligations relating to this program.
3 M
SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEHEH

Information reported to the CODM, being the Directors of the Company, for

the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

focuses on type of services provided. No operating segments identified by

the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of

the Group.

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are as follows:

(@)

Corporate finance services, investment and others — provision of
corporate finance advisory services including financial advisory
services, services incidental to financial advisory, compliance advisory
services, placing agency and/or underwriting services, investment
business and others.

Asset management services — provision of asset management services
including investment advisory services and sundry income derived
from provision of the services.

Securities and related services — provision of securities broking,
underwriting and placing of securities and investment in securities.

HERD B RFHE YRR B M EEBLZRKEA
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRMAE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
EFE_—F+ZA=+—HILFE

6. ZHEFR(E)

Segment revenue and results D EBULES e A
Corporate
finance
services, Asset Securities
investment management and related
and others services services Total
ERMERY
RERHEM EEEERE FBFRAEERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THER FTER FTER
2021 —E--F
Revenue — external customers Wzt —INBRF 36,700 18,292 4,484 59,476
Other net income (Note) HAM AT () - - 547 547
Other net financial loss Hib B &85 E
- all generated from proprietary trading ~—2HABERFEE (9,126) - (659) (9,785)
Reportable segment revenue HEDEE 27,574 18,292 4,372 50,238
Results 4
Reportable segment profit/(loss) BRETSTAIERE 5 3
before income tax s fl (E518) 4,113 3,211 (3,730) 3,504*
Amounts included in the measure of STABRFTE R AT RS 5
reportable segment profit/(loss) B (BB WeE
before income tax: BE
Amortisation on intangible assets B EESEE 6,741 6,439 = 13,180
Depreciation wE 685 903 1,939 3,527
Employee benefit expense EEEFMAX 7,047 6,495 4,227 17,769
Other information: HihEH
Additions to specified non-current assets 45 JER B A 7 2 32 4 59 - 100
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZoEERE
Segment revenue and results (Continued) oI R R A ()
Corporate
finance
services, Asset Securities
investment management and related
and others services services Total
ERERS
BEREA BEBERY &5 KAEHERY “st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FAT FAT
2020 TECTE
Revenue — external customers Wzt —INPRF 66,415 44,251 = 110,666
Other net income (Note) HA A (i :E) 541 387 = 928
Other net financial loss Hi s EE %R
- all generated from proprietary trading ~—2HAEEXFELE (3,898) - - (3,898)
Reportable segment revenue HRE D Bas 63,058 44,638 - 107,696
Results E 3
Reportable segment profit BRETS TR RS 2 26
before income tax gl 33,805 24,968 = 58,773*
Amounts included in the measure of T ABRFTSTAT RS 5 &6
reportable segment profit before egalls okt
income tax: BE
Amortisation on intangible assets B EESRH 10,624 6,439 - 17,063
Depreciation e 718 970 - 1,688
Employee benefit expense EERFMAZ 13,355 11,115 = 24,470
Non-cash income — advisory fee RSN - UABRZHEE Y
income settled in shares EERA (12,000) - - (12,000)
Other information: Hipgw
Additions to specified non-current assets 45 E IR BN E EE 2 12 9 14 - 23
* Total segments’ profits equal to consolidated profit before income tax, - 1853 7R s A B EE S R BR T IS BAT AR & 5 A
accordingly no reconciliation of these two amounts is presented. Jlt EMERTERH LR -
Note: Other net income generated from proprietary trading included in segment Ma: BEZT-—F+-A=+—HILLFE  FFKHA

revenue under securities and related services for the year ended 31
December 2021 was gain of approximately HK$1,000 (2020: included in
segment revenue under corporate finance services, investment and others
was gain of approximately HK$226,000).

There was no inter-segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

Eﬁﬂ&i%IETE’J"ﬁBLISZEqJ’?%E’JEM“%F&E’Jﬁ
U A SFEE D B AU EE 41,0008 T (ZE =8
TERERS  REREMIETRERD Pk Z
25 49226,000/7T) ©

ECE - FR_ECEE+ A=+ RILFEE
D EBREIRA -
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBERME

(%)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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6.

To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6. ZHEFR(E)

Segment assets and liabilities PHEERERE
Corporate
finance
services, Asset Securities
investment management and related
and others services services Total
ERMERY
RERHEM EEEERYE BHREERSE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT THER TR FTET
As at 31 December 2021 R-B-—-f+=ZA=+—H
Reportable segment assets and BEIHEER
consolidated total assets GRREESH 442,194 40,587 196,316 679,097
Reportable segment liabilities BEIBEE 22,886 1,052 182,906 206,844
Unallocated: other payables, accrued KEED - HtERFIR
expenses and taxation payable JEAT RS RIERFiE 5,889
Consolidated total liabilities fra AR 212,733
As at 31 December 2020 RZZE=TF+=-A=1+—H
Reportable segment assets and BENHEER
consolidated total assets IR BELE 441,402 73,533 - 514,935
Reportable segment liabilities HESHAE 26,187 1,366 = 27,553
Unallocated: other payables, accrued KD - HthERAR
expenses and taxation payable FEETEE fi&ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ 22,153
Consolidated total liabilities SREEE 49,706
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating SRESE SEEIA N OISR ERME ¢

resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than other

payables, accrued expenses and taxation payable (except for other

payables, accrued expenses and taxation payable attributable to

securities and related services segment).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Major customers information
Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10% or more of

Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, is set out
below:

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

7 RPE X ()
FREFEHR
REEBEPWE (FEHARERE-F-—FR=

EoRF+ A=+ HIEFERE10%ZHA L) H
wm

2021 2020

—BEC--F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT T

Customer A’ BEA' 18,292 44,251
Customer B wEB 9,600 -
Customer C? wEC - 17,000
Customer D? ZFED? - 16,753

Revenue from Customer A is attributable to asset management services.

Revenue from Customers B, C and D are attributable to corporate finance
services, investment and others.

Geographic information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong and all the Group’s
non-current assets are located in Hong Kong.

! KEFEPANW SR ENEEEIRIRY

b KEEFB  ChDHWmBARCERERY - &
AR EAM -

b E R

AEEEGRETEETBETRARBRB IR E
EBRINERE

OTHER NET FINANCIAL LOSS Hu B e 8 FERE

2021 2020

—E—— —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FT

Interest income FMEHA 195 379

Dividend income A& 2 WA 7 =
Fair value loss including interest income BRAFEFABSNTE

on financial assets at FVPL BEZ AN FERBE(BEFNEWMA) (9,987) (4,277)

(9,785) (3,898)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEUBHREME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8. EEEABX(BFREEML)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2021 2020
B —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Salaries, other benefits and Directors’ fees & HihEAIRESZES 13,684 9,909
Discretionary bonus BBIEAT 3,527 14,120
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RINEFFTEIfER 558 441
17,769 24,470

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 9.

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

EEMERIEREHFMEAZHE

9.1 Directors’ emoluments 9.1 EEM4
The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors were as follows: ENSENESHeNT :
Retirement
benefits
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary scheme
fees other benefits bonus contributions Total
FER BIRER
= HitEF MR BE LGS @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TR TR TR TR THER
2021 ZB--F
Non-Executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Li Chi Kong * FERIEE 30 - - - 30
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao (Chairman) DAREE () 60 - - - 60
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren FEGETE
(Managing Director) (Note) ESpeE) () 60 - 2,225 - 2,285
Mr. Lam Chi Shing (Note) MR (BT 60 1,326 257 61 1,704
Ms. Li Ming (Note) Fi 2t (izE) 60 1,539 257 i 1,927
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BUHEH{TEE
Mr. Chan Sze Chung BREBRLE 60 - - - 60
Mr. Suen Chi Wai HEEEE 60 - - - 60
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred SRERE 60 - - - 60
450 2,865 2,739 132 6,186

*

Resigned with effect from 1 July 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 9. EEMEeRIEESFMEAZHE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (#&)
(Continued)
9.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 9.1 EEM< (@
Retirement
benefits
Directors’ Salariesand  Discretionary scheme
fees  other benefits bonus  contributions Total
ek RIRER
20k Hitriz EETEA TR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
2020 —E-TF
Non-Executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Li Chi Kong (Chairman) FEBEEER) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Kuo Jen-Hao BAREE 60 - - - 60
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren FEMGEE
(Managing Director) (Note) (EmrE) () 60 - 7,760 = 7,820
Mr. Lam Chi Shing (Note) PRI (BT 60 1,300 1,685 60 3,105
Ms. Li Ming (Note) Figdt () 60 1,508 1,685 70 3,323
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BV #EHTEE
Mr. Chan Sze Chung BREmEE 60 - - = 60
Mr. Suen Chi Wai FHExE 60 - - - 60
Mr. Sum Wai Kei, Wilfred BEELE 60 = = = 60
480 2,808 11,130 130 14,548
Note: In respect of the terms of employment, Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren, Mzt . SHEMGERME - TEMELE - MEKL

Mr. Lam Chi Shing and Ms. Li Ming are entitled to a discretionary
bonus. The amount of the discretionary bonus is at the discretion
of the Board taking into account of the performance of Yu Ming

Investment Management Limited ("Yu Ming"). No salary was paid
or payable to Mr. Lee Wa Lun, Warren during the years ended 31

December 2021 and 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed

to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2021

and 2020.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for

their services in connection with the management of the affairs of

the Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ and the

independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

ERFHETBRESTIBEL - BB
AeHEREES I RBHIREAERES
RAR([REE)RBEBAAMEE - BHE=
T FR-FZEF+-A=+—HIE
FEN TEFSIARESTEERE
Ec

BE-T-_—FR-_T-_TF+-_A=1+—HLE
FERN  BEEEWEXREHNETMEH -

A LBERTFRTEEZHMEIRERARA RE
B =BAIRE 2R o A LEBERTIHNTES
MBI IENTEEZME T RERERRR 2 E
ERTIRGZ AR -

ABRERERERAF 2021 5K

113



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 9. EEMeREEZESFMEAZHS

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (&)
(Continued)
9.2 Five highest paid individuals 9.2 AEBREFMEA
The five highest paid individuals included 3 and 3 of the Directors for HE_Z-_—FR-_ZT_ZTF+_A=+—HIt
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively, details of FE - AAmERTMEASBE=2K=2E
whose emoluments are set out in Note 9.1 above. The emoluments of F - FRAEMEFBEI RN XXM o /T
the remaining 2 highest paid individuals are as follows: WA R F I EAR ST
2021 2020
—EBEC--F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Salaries and other benefits FreRHMmER 2,282 2,236
Discretionary bonus BIBTEAT 215 1,410
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RGBT B3R 105 103
2,602 3,749
Their emoluments fell within the following bands: RERN S BRI T EHE
2021 2020
—E-—5 T T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHET
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017& 7L 21,500,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L 22,000,000/ 7T - 2
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no emoluments HE-—T-—ER-T-TE+-A=+—[ILEE  AEE

were paid by the Group to the Directors or the five highest paid YEAE SN A LS FIA TS EEFE AR
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as AN B R > 15 Bl BB (S o
compensation for loss of office.
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10. FINANCE COSTS

11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

10. BER A

2021 2020
—B-—fF —TFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 18) HE 8 EFS (PHEE18) 145 48
-
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 11. BRATSBATER
2021 2020
—B-—fF —TFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Profit before income tax is arrived BRETS B AT R A E HBR AT
at after charging: RIABIZER -
Amortisation on intangible assets (Note) R E E e (PeE) 13,180 17,063
Intangible assets derecognition upon RE KT AR TR
contract completion B AE 642 720
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 2R A 5 B 700 560
Depreciation of AT Z2#rE
— Owned property, plant and equipment —BEYE  BEKSEE 190 175
— Right-of-use assets —(EREEE 3,337 1,513
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EERFRAXZ (RIEES
emoluments (Note 9)) (Note 8) B (F5E9)) (Bi5ES) 17,769 24,470
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 145 48
Impairment losses on trade receivables E S REWFIB 2 R E k1R 4,988 92
Note: Amortisation on intangible assets is included in “Administrative and ek : EREEMNBEEEENGEEEERHEMS

other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

EER 2 [T R EMmRE] -

ABRERERERAF 2021 5K
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE_ZT-_—F+-_A=-+—HLFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FI8HiHAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) BE_ZT-_—F+_A=+tHILFE BBNEH IR
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (AT FERFUEFE16.5% (ZZ=FF : 16.5%) fEH &
ended 31 December 2021. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, o BIEFIGR MRS - —FENBARER =M E

the first HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of a
subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2020: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%). 5 o
The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and R
other comprehensive income represents:

2,000,000/ L128.25% (=
RN 2 FER T s A A1)1216.5%

— =

;7;7

et S

£ 1 8.25%) F K&
16.5%) 4

SRAREMEERERTORASES

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Current tax BNEAR IR
— Hong Kong profits tax —BATEM 4,750 12,819
— (Over-provision)/under-provision in prior years —BAFE (BERE) BETR (10) 180
4,740 12,999
Deferred tax (Note 27) IRIERIE (i E27) (2,281) (2,934)
Income tax expense FTiSfiF s 2,459 10,065
Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit at P BRI S BB B Rt H R M 2 HRA T
applicable tax rates is as follows:

2021 2020
B ZE-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit before income tax KR TS 50 A& Al 3,594 58,773

Tax calculated at the applicable Hong Kong profits tax 1238 &8 FISHF Rt E R FIE
rates (2020: 16.5%) (ZZ=ZF : 16. 5%) 593 9,697
Income tax at concessionary rate RERBERAE 2B (165) (165)
Tax effect of non-taxable income /,\p%fﬂuﬁU\ZfM%%% (45) (178)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AARASZ 2 T2 1,016 14
(Over-provision)/under-provision in prior years BAFE BRERE),BETR (10) 180
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised RERER =B BB E (15) 23
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RERABAT BB 2R 2 1,085 494
Income tax expense FTiSfiAs 2,459 10,065
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13.

14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. XA REEAELEESRER

THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the RRARHER ANERERERREERT TR A TR
owners of the Company is based on the following data: H:
2021 2020
—E=-F —TZHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FisT
Earnings B F

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings #t &t & & IR E A I #5E 2 7
per share (profit for the year attributable to the owners < 2 (R A=A A&

of the Company) IEARFE 2m7) 1,135 48,708
Number of shares BReEEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in M EEREAREERF
issue for the purposes of basic and diluted ZEBETERR
earnings per share A&7 hnsg 1925 1,139,330,190 1,139,330,190
There were no potential ordinary share in issue for the years ended 31 HE_Z - FR-Z-FF+-_A=+—HILFE"
December 2021 and 2020. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share WRBBTEELER - At - SREERFHGRE
presented are the same as the basic earnings per share. RZFIMER ©
DIVIDEND 14. KE
The Board does not recommend any dividend for the years ended 31 EEEgTERREBE_E-_—FR-Z-_ZF+=A
December 2021 and 2020. =t+—HIEFEEARSR -

ABRERERERAF 2021 5K

117



118

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BMERRE
Office Leasehold
equipment improvements Total
WAERE HEMELE st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Cost A
At 1 January 2020 R=ZZT=_ZTF—A—H 460 15 475
Additions NE 23 - 23
Written off s 7) = (7)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZE_TF+=-A=+—H
1 January 2021 ;k=ZF=——F—HF—H 476 15 491
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary & @KW — BB QA TIRE 27 - 27
Additions NE 100 - 100
Written off JsH (152) (152)
At 31 December 2021 R=B=—F+=A=+—H 451 15 466
Accumulated depreciation RiHiTE
At 1 January 2020 R=—ZT=_TF—HF—H 85 3 88
Depreciation e 170 5 175
Eliminated on written off FARSH BRF 7 68 (7) = (7)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZEZZF+=A=+—H
1 January 2021 E=—ZE——F—H—H 248 8 256

Depreciation e 184 6 190
Eliminated on written off T S 5 7 85 (152) - (152)
At 31 December 2021 R-Z—_—F+=-HA=+—8H 280 14 294
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZTF+_A=+—H 228 7 235
At 31 December 2021 R=ZB=—f+=A=+—H 171 1 172
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16. GOODWILL

The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from acquisition of a

subsidiary, is as follows:

16. BHE

T~

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

A —HNBRARMENMEREEZBEZ M

HK$’000
TR

Cost

At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020,
1 January 2021 and
31 December 2021

ES
R-B-BF-A—8 -

—®-®F+-A=t+-8-

—E--f-A-HRK
—2-_—%+=-A=+-H

302,965

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2020,

31 December 2020,

1 January 2021 and

31 December 2021

REtREE
R=Z2-2F—-A—-8"

—E=®F+=A=t+-8"

—®=-F-5-AR
—®—-%+-H=+-8

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020

FREE
RZZE_ZTF+-A=+—H

302,965

At 31 December 2021

R-EB-_—F+=-A=+—H

302,965

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the CGUs,
each of which represent an operating and reportable segment of the Group, as

follows:

PBEAENE - B
AEE QLA RS

)
%

EEReELSEN - FEAKE
B

Corporate finance services, investment and others

Asset management services

EEBARS - RE RHA

2021 2020
—E-—F —EC-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT F#IT
268,373 268,373
34,592 34,592
302,965 302,965

RESBERERAA 2021 F#
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. BE (@)
Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets HEERBEFEEETRENR
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined from value ReEFEEMMA KB ENERBEFESTE - 1ty
in use calculations based on cash flow projections from formally approved BIFERAETEE (RERFHME) MRS RIER - AF
budgets covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period BRI S WA ET IE T IE R E2.5% (22 =F
are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average growth rate of 2.5% F:25%)HE  EUWEBHEBERREEERITE
(2020: 2.5%), which does not exceed the long-term growth rate for the FRAERE - BERERY REREMDBARE
advisory and asset management industry in Hong Kong. The cash flows are EERREDSBNRETED AIEMR14.7%K%14.5% (=
discounted using discount rates of 14.7% and 14.5% (2020: 14.5% and TTF  14.5% K 14.4%) TR KRBLIR - EFRA
14.4%) for segments of corporate finance services, investment and others ReELEURARHECEEFRAENREREER
and asset management services respectively. The Directors concluded EEMRAE - l&tEA;gi—i&;?;?i‘f’;ﬂ
that the CGUs demonstrate they will generate sufficient cash flows from =+—BELERETEEREAR o
their operations that justify the carrying value of the goodwill and hence no
impairment of goodwill is necessary as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
Assumptions were used in the VIU calculations of the CGUs for 31 December i —FRZZFZFFFA=F+—RH ' BXAR
2021 and 2020. The following describes each key assumption on which & fﬁ%éi 14%1%)3%?‘@ BEEEIT L ER
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment EREERBEARBEIRSREMANSTEZ/REW
testing of goodwill and intangible assets: T
Corporate finance services,
investment and others
TERERY RERHM
2021’ 2020
- ! T F
Discount rate IR 14.7% 14.5%
Operating margin within the five-year period T4 HR R O O 48 8 R 75.4% - 81.3% 72.3% - 72.5%
Revenue growth rate within the five-year period FFHARE A A i R
(excluding one time special revenue) (BRI B W) -1.5% - 3.6% 3.3% - 4.5%
Terminal growth rate KA R E 2.5% 2.5%
Asset management services
BEEEERE
2021 2020
—E-—-F —EToETF
Discount rate PR E 14.5% 14.4%
Operating margin within the five-year period T FHR AR 48 T 38.5% - 41.9% 34.0% — 41.8%
Revenue growth rate within the five-year period A F R AR R ERIE R E 0.1% 0.2%
Terminal growth rate KA RE 2.5% 2.5%
! The five-year cash flow forecast included an estimated variable ! AFREREBUBIE—BRREMFANTHKOHEKN

consideration for a significant advisory transaction to be settled within next

two years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets
(Continued)

The revenue growth rates and operating margin within the five-year period
are based on past performance and management’s expectations of market
development.

The discount rates used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant CGU.

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-A=t+—HIFE

16. &E (&)

HHEREREEETRENS (&)

T F R KRR EME X R BER B R AN
EEEHTISERNE -

PRRITIR E RERTAT - W RIREARR S EE BB R
HREE R ©

Carrying
VIU amount of CGU Headroom
REEEENZ
EREERE BRTEE =R
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHERT FET
As at 31 December 2021 RZB=-—-F+=HA=+—H
Corporate finance services, investment ERERSE - £E
and others K E A 395,241 334,027 61,214
Asset management services BEEERS 55,793 35,079 20,714
Total 45T 451,034 369,106 81,928
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZTF+—A=+—H
Corporate finance services, investment ERERE - 1RE
and others R HoAth 374,125 341,411 32,714
Asset management services BEBEERY 60,330 41,517 18,813
Total “Et 434,455 382,928 51,527

The above VIU and carrying amounts of CGU represent the VIU and carrying
amount of goodwill and intangible assets attributable to each CGU as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

VIU have been determined by a firm of independent professional valuer,
Greater China Appraisal Limited (“GCA”), using valuation techniques.

The management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these key assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
the above CGUs to exceed the VIU of those units.

For asset management services segment, current sole asset management
services contract with SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (“SHK”) is in force
and has renewed until December 2022.

For corporate finance services, investment and others segment, the Group
entered into corporate finance services contract amount of approximately
HK$32,500,000 (2020: approximately HK$40,200,000) and expects
performance obligations will be satisfied in the coming 12 months as at 31
December 2021.

LitEREEMREELBUNRAEERREEZE_Z
TN CRE T A=t ASERSELBM
BB EENREEE -

EREEDE BB EEAEMEETEGR AR (DEE
FHED RS ERImEE -

EEERR  EMELEREBRRNEFNAEATENEL
Bregy bR e Es B M RAATHEBBIE LB
MEREE -

BETERES S - BEEFTIREGR AR ([FL])
W—EBEEEREANDABYR  YEEHEEZ T
—ZF+=R-

EREERS  REAREMIH  RZFT=_—F+=
A=+—H AREFTVCERERE S QOEED
32,500,000/ 7L (ZF ZF4F : 740,200,000/ 70) I 18
HIRORAR 1218 AR BRI RAE
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-F-—F+-A=t+-RALFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

7. BLEE

Investment
management
agreement Backlog  Trade name SFC licences Total
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii) (Note iv)
REEEGHE RE BEE  BESMR @t
(Pt (e (Bit&iii) (BiteEiv)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx
Cost BA
At 1 January 2020 “Z-Z%—-f-H 15,560 15,705 69,044 3,740 104,049
Derecognition upon contract completion REKITERRAR IERER - (1,071) - = (1,071)
At 31 December 2020 i Ef A=1+-8
and 1 January 2021 “E-—%-HA-H 15,560 14,634 69,044 3,740 102,978
Derecognition upon contract completion RE ,‘@Jﬁﬁm%tﬁﬁam - (1,928) = = (1,928)
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-%£+=A=t-H 15,560 12,706 69,044 3,740 101,050
Amortisation and impairment BHRAE
At 1 January 2020 R=ZE-_TF—f—H 2,683 2,181 1,439 - 6,303
Amortisation B 6,438 7,173 3,452 - 17,083
Derecognition upon contract completion BRTERIR (ETERR - (851) - - (351)
At 31 December 2020 RZF_FF+-A=+-H
and 1 January 2021 k=Z-—%—fA—H 9,121 9,003 4,891 - 23,015
Amortisation B 6,439 3,289 3,452 - 13,180
Derecognition upon contract completion RERTERE LR - (1,286) - - (1,286)
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-F+ZA=+-H 15,560 11,006 8,343 - 34,909
Carrying amount ﬁEEfE
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-FF+-A=1+-H 6,439 5,631 64,153 3,740 79,963
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-%+=A=1+-H - 1,700 60,701 3,740 66,141
Notes: Bff3E
[0) The carrying amount Nil (2020: HK$6,439,000) of investment management i) REECEMZONEEHERE(ZZ_FF :

(i

agreement relates to a management agreement entered into with SHK
under asset management services segment, thus its carrying amount is
attributable to asset management services CGU.

The carrying amount HK$1,700,000 (2020: HK$5,631,000) of Backlog
relates to service agreements for the provision of transaction financial
advisory services whereby the services have not been fully performed at
25 July 2019 under corporate finance services, investment and others
segment, thus its carrying amount is attributable to corporate finance
services, investment and others CGU.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain advisory service
agreements included in the Backlog were completed ahead of schedule.
This caused a change in useful lives of intangible assets which is being
accounted for prospectively and has resulted in a decrease in amortisation
charges for the year of approximately HK$268,000 (2020: increase
approximately HK$1,938,000) from what it would otherwise have been.
Certain advisory service agreements were early terminated and the
corresponding intangible assets with carrying amount of approximately
HK$642,000 (2020: approximately HK$720,000) were derecognised out
during the year.
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17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

This relates to trade name of “Yu Ming” in Hong Kong since its (iii)
incorporation in 1996 for providing corporate finance advisory and asset

management service in Hong Kong.

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

. BVEAE (&)

B - (8

(B8] B —NWANFEEBEMALAR - £FE
RECEREERREETERBHHEZEEN

(iv) SFC licenses relate to the licenses that are essential for carrying out Type (iv) BEGERIERIBEESELFRAEED (BB EFIE
1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising 5718) ([BEHEBEEKADREF 1B EFEHRS)
on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) under the Hong FAE(RFHFEMER) - FolE (HHBRERRE
Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong R)REFR(RHEEETRE) (HEEEGBR A
Kong) (the “SFQO”) (collectively the “SFC Licenses”). By holding the SFC NHEHIRE - R ARESHRE  SHETEE
Licenses, Yu Ming would avoid the expenditure that was required to incur ARG EESERMELENERY -
for obtaining the SFC Licenses.

) The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets have been determined (v) A ER R U B & B TR M 16 AT I BE U R
from VIU calculation as disclosed in Note 16. BEH -

LEASES 18. HE

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its operations.
Lease of office premises generally have lease terms of 21 to 24 months.

The Group also has lease contract for certain items of office equipment.

Lease of office equipment generally have 24 months.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the

AEBBRARNEEREEZRAENEZEERR -
WAEYEZ BEET R2122418

JJJ

REBNHEERAEREZHEER - IAE[HE2HA
HmE A24E A -

(a) ERAEEE

REEE AR ERNREELNEE AN ZEE LD

movements during the year are as follows: T
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2020 RZZE=_TF—A—H 1,891
Depreciation e (1,513)
At 31 December 2020 RZZZTFE+—A=+—H
and 1 January 2021 K_T_—%—H—H 378
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) FEBYEE B A RIAE (H:E34) 4,173
Additions B 2,734
Depreciation e (3,337)
At 31 December 2021 R=—TB-_—F+=-H=+—H 3,948
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

18. LEASES (Continued) 18. #HE (&)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the

AEEHEAENREERNFEANEE N

124

year are as follows:

T

2021 2020

—EBEC--F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

At 1 January K—A—H 390 1,910
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary FRKE—FHNBARRE

(Note 34) (PFiF3E34) 4,173 -

Accretion of interest recognised during the year R EAE A B R F 25 E 145 48

Additions NE 2,734 -

Payments (NE-S (3,460) (1,568)

At 31 December R+t=BA=+—8 3,982 390

Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENER S 3,636 390
Non-current portion FERENE D 346 -

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) REZTPERIANEEEBREN
relation to leases are as follows: T
2021 2020
B —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 145 48
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEETE 3,337 1,513
Total amount recognised in profit or loss REEPERANR SR 3,482 1,561
(d) Total cash outflow for leases included in the (d ZEBRESRERTEENEERS

consolidated statement of cash flows is as FHAZEmMT :
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—-F —EToTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Within financing activities EREESP 3,460 1,568
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—H+_A=+—HILFE

19. OTHER ASSETS 19. Htt&EE

2021 2020
—EC-—F R -TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FisT

Contribution of the guarantee fund paid to Hong Kong X 1& F&EF REEHEE A A
Securities Clearing Company Limited (‘HKSCC”) (BAEE]) MREESHK 50 =

Deposits with Stock Exchange: BRS¢

— Compensation fund —fHEES 50 =
— Fidelity fund —HRES 50 =
Admission fee paid to HKSCC TR TERGEENEAE 50 =
200 -

20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 20. 8% 8ERAHAR
LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract assets and AEBEERZUATREHEENEERSLYARE -
contract liabilities.

2021 2020

—E-— —TE-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Contract assets AREE 592 53
Contract liabilities aHaE 11,307 13,969

The timing of revenue recognition, progress billings to customers and TR« EN R EERENEE NS5
payments on amount received from customers would affect the amount of @ S/ A BT URSD = ch AR A () HAE RSP 5 FELR
trade receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities recognised as at the

FIE - ERNEERARNABNSRE
reporting date on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets and ANEERANE ETESINEI K AERRIMNT
contract liabilities is as follows:

2021 2020
—B-—& —E-TE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Contract assets AREE
Within one year —FR 592 53
Contract liabilities ARNEE
within one year —FR 11,307 13,969
The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration, including A8 ETFERAEFEMNMEHRSH B REWEATER
payments on account, received from customers prior to delivering of services RIEEH  BEER - SEEEREEHBIKEES
by the Group. When the Group receives a deposit before the service - EiEARMRRELESREE  BREHEAR
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, FHERHUEABBTES AL °
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
the deposit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 20. 48 ERSHNEEHE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in the contract liabilities during the year are as follows: REEARN  GHEBENEHNT :

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

At 1 January W—A—H 13,969 16,200

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract AEE AR L BBEEHZ

liabilities balance at beginning of year B = (2,670) (6,800)
Increase due to cash received, excluding amount REENEE YR E (NEIERER

recognised as revenue during the year R R FE) mEm 8 4,569

At 31 December R+=HA=+—H 11,307 13,969

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 21. EGRHEMEWRIE s B KT

PAID AND PREPAYMENTS (7S
2021 2020
—E-—-F T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET TATT
Current Asset REBEE
Trade receivables (Note) B 5 YRR (i) 4,488 5,820
Other receivables H fth FEUCGRIE 1,224 10
Prepayments FER IR 375 309
Rental and utility deposits He kKBRS 994 341
7,081 6,480
Note: The Group normally applies credit terms to its customers according Wiz : AEE—BIRBTLEHREREZTE 2 8%

to industry practice together with consideration of their creditability,
repayment history and years of establishment. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its

R REFRREIT TS ZEERN - BREP
BRAEBZSEER - AREHEREEREAR
FEREES - AR AmSREEETHETE

outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior B o

management.
The Board considers that the fair values of trade and other receivables which TEEeRA AREHER—FRKE B 5N EtmE
are expected to be recovered within one year are not materially different from WS ITERA B R RS > B HPEARSIERAT - M T AT (E
their carrying amounts because these balances have short maturity periods EHEEETESAZR o

on their inception.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBERME

(n-ﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 21. EGREMERRIE - ENERERE
PAID AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) A FIE (5
The ageing analysis of the carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables as REEE HRITIEREEN RS B HENEER BN
at the reporting date, based on invoice dates, is as follows: BRERDATAAE :
2021 2020
—BEC--F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Within 30 days 30HA 2,748 299
Over 30 days but within 60 days #BB30HEMR60R A 438 -
Over 60 days but within 90 days B i1E60H{ER90H A 231 -
Over 90 days but within 365 days #RiE90 H1E /365 H A 1,071 5,521
4,488 5,820
At each reporting date, the Group reviews trade receivables for evidence of RERERH - AEEEHE ZRKIA - UERIRE
impairment on both individual and collective basis. BEEHS LT AMEEE
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, loss allowances of approximately RZBZ—FRZIZF-TF+-A=+—0 HEH
HK$5,229,000 and approximately HK$241,000 were made against the gross FEMGRIA L2 2R 1 B 1R R 5 9 511 495,229,000/ 7T K 49
amount of trade receivables respectively. 241,000/ 7T ©
Movement in the loss allowances amount in respect of trade receivables HE_Z - FRk-_ZT-_FTF+_A=1+—HILFE -
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: B ZEWNFIREL BIERE 2 BT ¢
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
At 1 January n—A—H 241 149
ECLs recognised during the year RNEEANERNEREEEE 4,988 92
At 31 December R+=A=+—~H 5,229 241
22. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY 22, FEW—EEE D TFIE
2021 2020
—BE-—F —T-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Trade in nature BHHE 4,452 31,659

The amount due from a related company is unsecured, interest free and

repayable on demand. 8o
The relationship and transactions with the above related company are £ i BE RN R RBR AN 2 S M EE31 () () =
disclosed in Notes 31(i)(a) to 31(i)(c). W o

FEY — R R R IR A EER LR RARENRE

31(i)(c)F
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

@K

23.

24.

25.

To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

23. RAFEFAESNMHEE

2021 2020
B T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Financial assets MgEE
Equity securities held for trading FBEBE 2 RAFE
— Listed in Hong Kong —RBEE LT 2,311 9,186
Debt Securities vy
— Listed in Hong Kong —REE LT 11,329 =
— Listed outside Hong Kong — BB AIMNBE T 686 =
14,326 9,186

The debt securities are denominated in United States dollar (“USD”).
The above equity and debt securities are classified as held for trading.

Fair values for these instruments have been measured as described in Note
36.7.

These financial assets are subject to financial risk exposure in terms of credit,
price risk, interest rate and currency risk .

CLIENT TRUST BANK BALANCES

The Group maintains segregated deposit accounts with a recognised bank
to hold clients” monies arising from its normal course of business. The Group
has classified the clients” monies as client trust bank balances under the
current assets section of the consolidated statement of financial position
and recognised the corresponding trade payables (Note 26) to respective
clients as it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. The
segregated deposit accounts balances are restricted and governed by the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the SFO.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

EREFAET ([T EHE -

R AN 75 S (B 15 75 2

BAFRRIEEE -

ZEVBTANATHED K E - HTEESS. 7A7Al ©

ZERBEERAZSREER -

Z BB -

24. FFEFRITARR

B - MEREERER

REBR —RRBAMIRITHAZB L FRES - LWERE
EREFBEPEENTFK
IEE’JEHEES?EI%BEH?M*TE B R PR REBES R

BIrEMBRARNOTBEEDD THEFEERTT
wEeh - WHERENTEEPOHEEE S EMFE (T
26) - BN FRIRP AT ES KIS EAN S EF
RS (BP7E) RAIFTA R ZERE -

25 BHERBEELEEY

15 - ARAEBEHEFK

2021 2020

—E=——5 T -TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT T

Cash on hand and at banks FHENIFTRS 16,315 3,320
Short-term time deposits RHIFE BATER 82,712 80,696
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 99,027 84,016

Included in cash and cash equivalents of the Group is approximately
HK$323,000 (2020: approximately HK$355,000) of bank balances
denominated in USD. The Group did not have significant exposure to foreign
currency risk at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED  26.
EXPENSES

GEMBHEEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

B REMBENFEREAX

2021 2020
—E--F —TZHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Trade payables arising from the BHR G RIS RIEH
ordinary course of business of securities —REBAEP
dealing and brokerage services (Note) EERE 5 RN HIE (M)
— Cash client —ReRP 180,193 -
— Stock Exchange — B3P 316 =
Other payables and accrued expenses HAb S FIB R BRI 4,173 14,906
184,682 14,906
Note: The settlement terms of trade payables attributable to dealing in securities Mzt - BFRGEENE RN RBLEHEGR AR S B
are two days after the trade date. ﬁﬁi @
No ageing analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of the Directors, an HARESZRA  EREHFR I RELIRBOZES
ageing analysis does not give additional value to users of this report ME - RERSMTISRETARECAETEINE
in view of the business nature of securities dealing and brokerage B - EERERER DT
services.
As at 31 December 2021, included in trade payables arising from RZZB-_—F+-A=+—H EFRZIRELL
the ordinary course of business of securities dealing and brokerage Hﬁi‘%ﬂ’ﬂ*ﬂx%fi’?i@k‘*‘?iﬂ’]ﬁ%ﬂgﬁmlﬁqﬂ“ﬁ
services was an amount of approximately HK$180,193,000 (2020: Nil) #9180,193,0008 L (ZE =T F : &) ARHE
payable to clients in respect of segregated deposit accounts balances FREXEBBARPUBRERRFHENBILFN
received and held for clients in the course of the conduct of regulated BR P A ERTT B [0 P A B RRIA
activities.
27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. EEHIEEE

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under the
balance sheet liability method using principle taxation rate of 16.5% for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. The following is the major
deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group and the movements thereon
during the year.

EEFRBENREEEABERABEARENZHE25 T
g mMBE—ZT-—Fk-_T-_TF+-_A=+—AHL
FEFANEERELE16.5% ° LT HIANEE D H#ER
NEBREFHBEBEREFAES -

Adjustment on intangible
assets arising from
acquisition of a subsidiary

WS — R 2 R

EENEREEFLAR

HK$’000

FHAT

At 1 January 2020 R_ZE-_TF—H—H 16,128
Credit to profit or loss for the year (Note 12) ﬁAimﬁﬁWﬁﬂm (2,934)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R ZTF+-_A=+—HBE=T=_—F—H—H 13,194
Credit to profit or loss for the year (Note 12) FFAFREZ (HFE12) (2,281)
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—F+=-A=+—H 10,913
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL &N
Number of shares Amount
RHEE -]
HK$°000
FET
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each HRZ0.108 T 2 Ak
At 1 January 2020, R-Z-_ZF—H—AH-
31 December 2020, —E-EF+ZA=t—
1 January 2021 and —E-_-¥%—A—HEK
31 December 2021 B —F+=-A=+- 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Number of shares Amount
RHEE kx|
HK$°000
FTET
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHRE
At 1 January 2020, R=-ZB-ZF—-HF—H-
31 December 2020, —B-ZF+-H=+—H -
1 January 2021 and —E-—§—-HA-HRK
31 December 2021 —E-—f+=-H=+—H 1,139,330,190 113,933
29. RESERVES 29. f#fE
(@) Group (a) Z&£H
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein are REBNHEBESEREEFH IRGEAERESHR
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Hh 25
(b) Company (b) AT
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share retained
premium earnings Total
(BitER)/
BRAVERE REEA Foh

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TiEgn

At 1 January 2020 RZE-T5-H-A
Loss for the year FRER

431,023 (149,209) 281,814
= (2.991) 2,991)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
Transfer share premium to accumulated loss (Note) i,ﬁéﬁxfn HEZ2HER ()
Loss for the year FREE

REE-ZET-A=+-HR=Z--%-f-H

431,023 (152,200) 278,823
(431,023) 431,023 -
- (2,689) (2,689)

At 31 December 2021 RZB=-F+ZA=+-A

= 276,134 276,134

Note: Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company on 28 May 2021, all
amount of approximately HK$431,023,000 standing to the credit of
the share premium account was reduced and cancelled and that of
the credit arising from the share premium reduction be applied to
offset the entire amount of the accumulated losses of the Company
as at 31 December 2020 and the remaining balance of the credit
arising from the share premium reduction be transferred to the
retained earnings account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

29. RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
and the Company

Share premium

Under the Companies Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, share
premium are distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of share premium if () it is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (i) the realisable
value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital account.

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted by the Company pursuant to a resolution
passed on 19 June 2013 was revoked, cancelled and terminated with effect
from the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) which was passed in the Company’s extraordinary general meeting
on 22 May 2019.

The Company operates the New Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group
or any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested
entity”). Eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme include (1)
any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of the Group and any Invested
Entity; (2) any director (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity; (3) any supplier
of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (4)
any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (5) any consultant, adviser,
manager, officer or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; or (6) any person
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute
to the Group or any Invested Entity eligible for options under the New Share
Option Scheme summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option
Scheme set out in the Appendix IV to the Company’s circular on 27 April
2019. The New Share Option Scheme became effective on 25 July 2019
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

29.

30.

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

fit e ()
() AEERAQFRBUEEREN

BRGEE

RIEFESREARERIER) - BIEER 2K
TR - R A ) AR 2 AR I SRR LS 3
ERDIREASENEEEI AR : =) A7
BENAEREESEMINEABREDET
BARERZ A - RIARBANE B RMEET KK
IR B SAEH DK ©

BRERTE

ARABRRBR _Z—=FR XA TN RBBNRERRR
MBBRIERTBID BRE - R - BERAT RS
2 ([t al))  ZERBNAARBAHME=—Z N
FRA-T - BRNBRBHIAS L8 -

AARETRERENS S ERB L REAERALHA
SEPAEHHER N, REEEAEBENREERRE
BHEE LRSI HEARERAE B H HEMREN
EMER(HRARR)) ABENANER - FiBEEsT
FNBARZEEBEN)ARERETRETRBNER
EE (THERIKRBES) | QFAKEHTAREER
MWEAES (BT JFTRIBIEITES) ¢ ()
REB N ER K E R A SR E B R B iR
BHER  OAKREHEIREZBNEMNETS ¢ (5)
ERAAKEREMNREBRBREHME  BEREME
MscRAOEER - AL K2 SHBENER X
OEEEE2RNBERRELRA LY AEE RN
KABRRERRHA LA RRMAEREEHEIET
ZATHERENEFRAL - ARAAMA T —NFN
P = BB R B S 0 8 5T s A R R B e 2 R AGRE
Z o BRI EE T NF LA TREER &
BRIERTTREHIUER] - HGAZ BB 105G/ -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. BERRESTE (@)

132

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to
be granted under the New Share Option Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the New Share Option Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 business
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. An option may be exercised in whole or in part
by the grantee (or his/her personal representative(s)) at any time before the
expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the Board to the grantee
which in any event shall not be longer than ten (10) years commencing on
the date of the offer letter and expiring on the last day of such ten (10)-year
period subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in the New
Share Option Scheme. There is no general requirement on the minimum
period for which option must be held before the exercise of any option.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Directors, but
may not be less than the higher of (1) the closing price of the New Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
(2) the average of the closing price of the New Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five consecutive business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (3) the nominal value of a New
Share on the offer date.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or outstanding
under the share option scheme for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group
had the following significant related party transactions, of which, (d) and (e)
below also constituted an exempt connected transaction under the Listing
Rules, during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, which were
carried out in the normal course of the Group’s business:

GEMBERME

(n-ﬁ)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE—

BB LX5

Bz S IR EA M T T REE SN

31.

2= A=T-ALFE

AEEHE—T
T FRZFEFT A=+ —HIEFERE TIIE

KRR 7732 5 (Borp i (o) B (e) AR 45 _E 7 AR RS PR 2R
RZEERS) - ERAKEREEEBRETET

2021 2020
s —ToTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Received or receivable from SHK and its subsidiaries, B Yk FEUET T R E KB A 7]
a related group (—EREm R E) FI8
(@) Asset management fee income (Note (i)(@)) (@) BEEEBRA (MiE()@) 17,246 43,152
(b) Sundry income (Note (i)(b)) (o) %’EIEJ%U\ GEO) 1,046 1,099
(c) Securities brokerage service (Note (i(c)) (©) FBEHLLRTE (FIFE®) ) 157 =
Received from entities controlled by a substantial B U AR AR F)E B F L
shareholder of the Company (the “Related Entities”) 2B ([ZEMER]) FIE
(d) Sub-lease income and () BHEKRAR
management income (Note (i)(c)) %I@HQJ\(W%\E(')( ) 546 =
(e) Securities brokerage service (Note ()(c)) () FBHLLIRIE(FHEG) () 128 -
Received from an entity significant influenced by a BB ARAREEZRR
substantial shareholder of the Company (the “SF BEARECEB((ZEAFEER))
Entity”) ?}(IE
(f) Securities brokerage service (Note ()(c)) () F L4 RIS (P 7E()(0) 661 -
Notes: iz :

(@)

An investment management agreement (the “Investment Management
Agreement”) was entered into by the subsidiary, Yu Ming and SHK, which
was approved by the shareholders of SHK on 12 September 2018. Under
the Investment Management Agreement, Yu Ming agreed to assist the board
of directors of SHK with the day-to-day management of SHK from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 2021, Yu
Ming and SHK renewed the Investment Management Agreement for one
year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. Yu Ming is entitled to a
management fee equal to 1.5% per annum of the consolidated net asset
value attributable to the owners of SHK, calculated and payable in arrears
on a quarterly basis by reference to the arithmetical average of the published
consolidated net asset value attributable to the owners of SHK on the last
day of each calendar month during each quarter; and a performance fee
equal to 20% of the amount by which the audited consolidated net asset
value attributable to the owners of SHK of each year ending 31 December
exceeds the audited consolidated net asset value attributable to the owners
of SHK as at the end of the latest financial year in which Yu Ming was entitled
to a performance fee. SHK was the Group’s related company since Mr. Lee
Wa Lun, Warren was common director of the Company and SHK.

MEBARBHET TV IREEE M ([REEE
WiEl)  AFIRER-_ZE—N\FEABET_B#t
Ko BEREETREGR  SHRAEN T —NF—
A—HE-Z-_—F+-A=+—HHBHFIES
EHNIHTAEER -BE_T-_—F+=A8
=+—HIEFER, SHEFTTEREAETEHER
H—F BT F— A BE-T-_—F+=
A=+—H R#ERZBHEERNIHEAS AERL
BAEEFE15%  EEEB (KL EH1IHES
ABEEFIBGEEEFENETEESE ARE
—BZFHEATFAEREIN) « REAERH THE
EARBET-_A=+—BLEREREEEREE
BEFECBNIAASARSHARZAERREN
R BEEREOCERGEEEFEZEHEZ
20% 2 KHEE - ANFTEMRELEARARKIILZ
HAZEE - FLAREEZBEHAF]
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

32.

Notes: (Continued)

(o)  Yu Ming provided day-to-day management (including office administration
and operation) to SHK and fees were charged in accordance with the
Investment Management Agreement.

()c) A subsidiary, Morton Securities Limited (“Morton”) sub-leased its office and

(i

(i)

provided management and securities brokerage services to the related
group, the Related Entities and the SF Entity and fees were charged in
accordance with the sub-lease agreement and the terms mutually agreed
by both parties.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the other transactions with the Group’s related parties mainly related to
the expenses paid by the Group on behalf of its related parties and net
advances made to the Group’s related parties.

The compensation of key management personnel of the Group, which
comprise the directors and senior management of the Company, for the
year ended 31 December 2021 are salaries, allowances and bonus of
approximately HK$7,063,000 (2020: approximately HK$15,848,000) and
pension costs for defined contribution plan of approximately HK$187,000
(2020: approximately HK$184,000).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities through acquisition
of a subsidiary, of approximately HK$4,173,000 and approximately
HK$4,173,000, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
office premises.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received
non-cash consideration of HK$12,000,000, which were settled by
70,582,979 listed shares of the customer, from the provision of
corporate finance advisory services to the independent third party
customers. Fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL (Note 7)
includes an amount of approximately HK$3,318,000 that represents
the unrealised fair value loss on these listed shares as at 31 December
2020.
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R REEERHEAENIFRSEMDFA
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70,582,979 EFMRMZA) o EHAFEFA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

32.

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

RERETREBRWEE (B

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEITBFAFEENEBZHIER
financing activities
Lease liabilities
HEAE
HK$’000
FHExT
At 1 January 2020 R=-ZZT-_TF—HF—AH 1,910
Changes from cash flows: e RER :
Lease payments HER (1,520)
Interest paid BEAFE (48)
Total changes from financing cash flows BER RSB R (1,568)
Other changes: Hin )
Interest expenses FEFX 48
Total other changes Hh & Ehaze 48
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZEZTF+_A=+—HBR=_T=—F—HF—H 390
Changes from cash flows: e
Lease payments MERK (3,315)
Interest paid BRFE (145)
Total changes from financing BB R &M
cash flows 4= (3,460)
Other changes: Hih g
Interest expenses FEF® 145
Additions through acquisition of a subsidiary FRKE—FENBARAE 4,173
Additions NE 2,734
Total other changes H i & EhAaEE 7,052
At 31 December 2021 R=B=—F+=A=+—H 3,982
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

33. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 33. AQREEMBLARFERS
SUBSIDIARY OF THE COMPANY

T FRZETHFF+A=1+—H8 " FEZHB

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as n=
follows: RAEFBELOT

Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company
Directly
ARBEERER DL
HHE
Place of incorporation/ Issued and
Name of Company registration/operation paid-up capital 2021 2020 Principal activities
o fF B AL/ T 4t Bt/
NEER Eisoh BITRBERE —EB-—F —ECTF FEERTES
Yu Ming Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Dealing in securities,
advising on securities,
advising on corporate
finance and asset
management
B & 10,000,000/ 7T 100% 100% #FEBHAXH @ ShEHR
HER  MEERE
RHUBRRRHEE
B
Morton Hong Kong HK$35,000,000 100% — Securities broking,
underwriting and
placing of securities
and investment in
securities
BE & 35,000,000 7C 100% - BEWE - EFBH
MBS REFRE
34. BUSINESS ACQUISITION 34, U
On 29 March 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire AEER T —F=A-+TNAZXKEEEE2IPE
issued shares of Morton, its principal activities refer to Note 33 above. The BTG  EEEHEKR EXHRES3 o W B EEAA
acquisition was made with the aims to expand the Group’s business. The SEER - XHUBRSREL7,140,00078 THF X 45
transaction was satisfied in form of cash consideration of approximately Ho

HK$7,140,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—H+_A=+—HILFE

34. EBUWE (&)

R B BB S RO AR EERBENAFHES

34. BUSINESS ACQUISITION (Continued)

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree as at the date
of acquisition were:

HK$'000
FHT

Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 27
Right-of-use assets fEFREEE 4,178
Other assets HihEE 200
Trade and other receivables, deposits paid B 5 REMERRIE - BEffE:

and prepayments RIBFHRIE 906
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEF A BN EEE 3,655
Client trust bank balances BE =ik 1148 5,978
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEY 2,601
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A ERTRIE

and accrued expenses M IERT RS (6,227)
Lease liabilities HEaE (4,1783)
Fair value of net assets acquired BE s EEFENATE 7,140
Cash consideration BReRE 7,140
Goodwil AE =
Cash flow: B -
Cash payment WERR 7,140
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BNERE KRR EEY (2,601)
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of a subsidiary WHE—FREBARFTEAZE &R FE 4,539

The fair value of trade receivables acquired as of the acquisition date
amounted to approximately HK$40,000. The gross contractual amount of
these receivables is approximately HK$40,000. None of these receivables
have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can
be collected.

Since the acquisition date, Morton has contributed approximately
HK$4,484,000 to Group’s revenue and a net loss approximately
HK$3,730,000. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2021, the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income would have included revenue of approximately HK$5,359,000 and
net loss of approximately HK$5,555,000. This pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2021, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future performance.

The acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$277,000 have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses.

YRR B RAMRE RO B 5 I UGRIR Y A F{E#940,0008
TC © % ERUGTIRH A K4 FR#I40,000/8 7T ° 2B
PR ERE  RHIREEHSOTHE -

BUE AR - BEE AAKETRI44,484,0004 7T
Z Wz K #93,730,000 7T 2 FE 1B o WIRER =F
Z—F—A—B%4%  AARSKENGEBEREMEE
Wz 7% % BIE 495,359,000/ 7T i 2 Wiz K #5,555,000
BT FER - WEZEESERRHBEERN - W i—F
KPAMBRWER T -_—F—A—HAZK  A5EHNE
B MEE AR - L MERBARRTERIRE -

Y BE AR R R 49277,000/8 T 2 FIER S IE At A 1T
%o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. &AM ERRE

COMPANY
2021 2020
—EBEC--F —ETF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
g3 FHET FHT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries REB A RMNIRE 417,141 400,000
417,141 400,000
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables and prepayments H A FE R IE R T 5RIE 179 256
Cash and cash equivalents BE MREEEY 1,095 20,101
1,274 20,357
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued expenses Hoh AT RRIR R FERT I 180 518
Amount due to a subsidiary FES — R R B IE 28,168 27,083
28,348 27,601
Net current liabilities BERBAE (27,074) (7,244)
Net assets FEE 390,067 392,756
Equity =
Share capital (&N 28 113,933 113,933
Reserves (G 29 276,134 278,823
Total equity R 390,067 392,756

RARMGEMBHRARN T F=A -+ ABEEESH
NIRRT WHATERAERRES

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 25 March 2022 and is signed on its
behalf by:

Lee Wa Lun, Warren Kuo Jen-Hao

=0 BAR
Director Director
EE EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments
in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment activities. The
financial risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s headquarters,
in close co-operation with the Board periodically. The overall objectives in
managing financial risks focus on securing the Group’s short-to-medium-
term cash flows by minimising its exposure to financial markets. Long-term
financial investments are managed to generate lasting returns with acceptable
risk levels.

36.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of

financial position relate to the following categories of financial assets
and liabilities:

36.

GEMBHEEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFE

MREBEERAFENE

AEBREAFERBET RREREFDTEREH
TARERMERR - FEERE Aa%mi%ﬂﬁ’*(@%
Rk - MEERREMERRR) - EERR MR
B

BEREEHASEANEE  IEHEEESER
A - EEMBRERMNEERREBREERSRT
BERNRER AR BHOTEMRERE - AREE
AERZZBABKFZERT @ ERERMERREAESE
FFAER -

36.1 IBEERAEZER

FAMIRERT 25 MBI T ERMEE
E BEMAREE -

2021 2020
—BEC--F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Financial assets BBEE
Financial assets at FVPL RN EFABSNU B EE 14,326 9,186
Financial assets at amortised costs: TR SERR AT EM M IS EE ¢
— Trade and other receivables —E 5 REAMEWKIE
and deposit paid kEffike 6,706 6,171
— Amount due from a related company — FEY— A RRES A Bl kI8 4,452 31,659
— Client trust bank balances — B P{EFtRT4 180,193 =
— Cash and cash equivalents —BeRREEEY 99,027 84,016
304,704 131,032
Financial liabilities M EE
Trade payables B S ENFIE 180,509 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,982 390
184,491 390
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. BI&EABREER ALEE (&)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.2 Foreign currency risk 36.2 ShiEE B
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash SNEREREERTIAZ ATFESIARKRSRERA
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in HNEE B SR B B I AR AR B A B - NEEEIRE S
foreign exchange rates. Most of the Group’s transactions are carried RGABTTHETT - EREXERFEREAEE
out in HK$. Exposures to currency exchange rates mainly arise from HIRE - REREFBUETAME -

the Group’s investments, which are primarily denominated in USD.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated VAN T B SR 3 B i T 2 AN EHE 2 A TS B B
into HK$ at the closing rates, are as follows: REBEWT
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-TF
usD UsSD
Y =TT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets s EE 12,338 355
Short-term exposure %2 BR[| fax 12,338 355
A reasonable change in foreign exchange rate for USD in the next 12 ETHIINEEER AR+ ZERANEEZBER
months is assessed to result in immaterial change in the Group’s profit L AEHRBEETBHA - REBEF & H i
after tax, retained earnings and other components of equity. S ERD IR B ED o
36.3 Interest rate risk 36.3 FIZEE
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows MNEREWFELRERTAZ AFEHIRETRES
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market TS AR EFE L FE R ©

interest rates.
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk for changes in AEBRBEFRAZHFR (R Tl F =M

market interest rates through its deposits at floating interest rates, F)MASZHISNREE 2N HRMERER o
which are subject to variable interest rates.

140 Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHEEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-_—F+T-_A=T—HILLFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. iR EKREER AFEE (&)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.3 Interest rate risk (Continued) 36.3 FIZ=E b ()
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s TR B EERRE B AR &5 =518 2 F &
profit after tax (and retained earnings) in response to reasonably Al EE) - AEERBIERF (RIRBEF J)Z
possible changes in the interest rates at variable interest rates as at BAEH

the reporting date.

2021 2020
s —ECEF
Increase/ Effect on profit Increase/ Effect on profit
(decrease) in after tax and (decrease) in after tax and
interest rate retained earnings interest rate retained earnings
(Note) (Note)
F=g BRBE % R & F=3ghn, PR 126 A1 e
(M2 REBAZHE ORA) REBNzZE
(=) (BRFEE)
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER FAT
Deposits T3 0.5% 495 0.5% 420
Deposits a2 (0.5%) (495) (0.5%) (420)
Note: FA%E
Positive figure represents increase in profit and retained earnings or EHRFwF RRBBFILMKERRD, AfAE
decrease in loss whereas negative figure represents decrease in profit and REFEF RARE B FR sk E G o
retained earnings or increase in loss as appropriate.
The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk REER - AEBEFEEFERR 2 REE ST
at the reporting date has been determined based on the assumed THEREF RSB E 5 LR E AW E
percentage changes in interest rates taking place at the beginning of BEFERNERFTEMET - FXR 2 BRESD K
the financial year and held constant throughout the year. The assumed BRBATMBBERERAG R TR 2 &
changes in interest rates are considered to be reasonably possible ) WEEEBEHNXEHEEE T —ERSEAH
based on observation of current market conditions and represents AIEEARE 2 SR A ge B B AT o EFERRE
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in FEGEHHE T _TF+_A=T—HIEFE
interest rates over the period until the next reporting date. These are IR e SRR TS SBRE S AEREER o

the same method and assumption used in preparing the sensitivity
analysis included in consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The Group accounts for the lease liabilities at amortised cost, therefore AEBEBEKNAFTEREEE @ BULREHR

a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not FEEE T L8 i o
affect profit or loss and equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. BI&EABREER ALEE (&)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.4 Price risk 36.4 EREM
Price risk relates to the risk that fair values or future cash flows of a BRRERIEeMIAZ AFESCRKRBELRE
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. A 5 AR (B B i IRR B 2 R o
Debt securities EHE %
The Group is exposed to price changes arising from investments in AEEEHE S EARATEFABSNUBEE
debt securities classified as financial assets at FVPL. The Group’s ZERBFREEEZBREDRERR - 5B
price risk exposure is summarised as follows: BRI T:
2021 2020
—E--F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Financial assets at FVPL BATFEFABRNNBEEE 12,015 -
At 31 December 2021, if price had been 5% higher or lower with all RZZFEZ—F+ZA=+—8 ' HERLAK
other variables held constant, profit after tax for the year would have TBE5% » MATAHMEFEMERFTE  NFE2
increased by HK$502,000 or decreased by HK$502,000. Fi1&% M &1 1502,000 7 TTakR 4°502,000/%
JT.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.4 Price risk (Continued)

Equity securities

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity
investments classified as trading securities. All of these investments
are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are primarily listed on Stock Exchange.
The portfolio is in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s
profit after tax (and retained earnings) and other components of the
equity in response to the reasonably possible changes in the relevant
stock market prices, to which the Group has significant exposure at
the reporting date.

In response to the reasonably possible change in the market price
of the listed equity securities, the Group’s investment in listed equity
securities has the following exposures:

2021
—ZE=

Increase/
(decrease) in
securities’
market price

GEMBHEEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-_—F+T-_A=T—HILLFE

36. MHEMERERAFENE ()

—%

Effect on profit

retained earnings

after tax and

36.4 E&E b ()

RAEF

AEEEHIEEER S BAREEL ZB(E
HBRR - IAERFRED /LD °

REEZ EHREZTE EMRBRAT - REM
BRBEBHRERBETED M LIEDBUILE -

TRIBEENHRE AAKEE B AR R 2 87
BRETESIBAIEESD ﬂﬁ%\?&$'§lﬁ$t%%§>ﬁ7%
T (R AR BA) Rt E AR D 2 LA &

HELETMRAEZESFMEBEZAEMRES  ~&H
REMRARFBHZIREFATRER

2020

Increase/
(decrease) in Effect on profit
securities’ after tax and

market price retained earnings

(Note) (Note)
EHHEEM ERBLEBERIR BHIEEN R 1 A1l &2
(A2 REBRZ2HE OB REBBR 2 &

(Pf=E) (FF=E)

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHT

Hong Kong market ~ &/&mi5 3% 58 7% 537
Hong Kong market ~ &/&Hi5 (3%) (58) (7%) (537)

Note: PE

Positive figure represents increase in profit and retained earnings or
decrease in loss whereas negative figure represents decrease in profit and
retained earnings or increase in loss as appropriate.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to equity price risk
at the reporting date has been determined based on the assumed
percentage changes in the stock market price or other relevant risk
variables taking place at the beginning of the financial year/period
and held constant throughout the year/period. The assumed changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes
in the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk variables over
the year until the next reporting date. These are the same method
and assumption used in preparing the sensitivity analysis included in
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020.

EHRRENRREBFENKBERD, AfE K
RFEN RREB BT EHRIE N

RIFER - NEEFMEHRERRZ FREIN
TRREETE &ﬁﬁﬁtﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ “I%“%ﬁﬁ

DR B R, R ELNEBEFE, 5
BAER TN EMETE - RREBDIEERELIEH
BETSESSAEMERRRATERZEES
\—1I#Ez"=Elﬁiifz/*\ii—fazﬁﬁﬂ‘]aﬂﬁ
HETERBREGHEBE_T_FTF+_A
=+ —HIEFEEEUBRRABBRES A
EAEMER -
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. BI&EABREER ALEE (&)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
36.5 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of the
financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered negligible as the
counterparties are reputable financial institutions with high quality and
credit ratings.

The Group adopts conservative investment strategies. Usually
investments are in liquid securities quoted on recognised stock
exchanges, except where entered into for long-term strategic
purposes.

For the Group’s investments in listed debt securities, the investment
team of the Group assess the financial performance of the holders
and issuers to ensure that the holders and issuers can satisfy the
repayment of the principal and interest as they fall due. The Group has
set portfolio size limits to control the Group’s exposure to the credit
risk. The Group also monitors the credit rating and market news of the
issuers of respective debt securities.

The Group’s management considers that all the financial assets
that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under review
are of good credit quality. The Group assessed the credit quality
of the counterparties by taking into account their financial position,
credit history and other factors. Management also regularly reviews
the recoverability of these receivables and follow up the disputes or
amounts overdue, if any. The Directors are of the opinion that the risk
of default by counterparties is low.

None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other
credit enhancements.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.5 Credit risk (Continued)

(i

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.
The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs on
trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and current market condition in
relation to each debtor’s exposure. The ECLs also incorporate
forward-looking information with reference to general
macroeconomic conditions that may affect the ability of the
debtors to settle receivables. To measure ECLs, the trade
receivables have been grouped based on share credit risk
characteristics and the days past due according to the ageing
as disclosed in Note 21. Expected loss rate of current trade
receivables are determined as below as the trade receivables
mainly represent amounts due from the customers with high
credit rating and no history of default. There is change in the
expected loss rate for trade receivables for the year ended
31 December 2021 mainly due to significant change in the
forward-looking information of trade receivables based on
which the expected loss rate is determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.5 Credit risk (Continued)

(i

Trade receivables (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix as at

31 December 2021 and 2020:

36.

MRS EERAFETE (&

36.5 5 & @k ()
() EZEKNEE)

TREIN B —FR_Z_TF+
A=+—RASEFERREERTENE
SEWFIENEERBRER

Gross

Expected carrying
As at 31 December 2021 loss rate amount ECLs
R-B=-—-F+=HA=+—H TR EE IREAE FAHCEER
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Within 30 days 30HA 0.7% 2,766 18
Over 30 days but within 60 days #BE30HER60H A 2.7% 450 12
Over 60 days but within 90 days HBiE60REMN0A A 7.7% 250 19
Over 90 days but within 365 days HBEI0REMN365H A 7.7% 1,160 89
Over 365 days HB3R365H 100.0% 5,091 5,091
9,717 5,229

Gross

Expected carrying
As at 31 December 2020 loss rate amount ECLs
RZZEZTF+=A=+—H TEHEER RE4E TEHEEEE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Within 30 days 30HA 0.3% 300 1
Over 30 days but within 60 days HBA30REMR60B A 0.7% - -
Over 60 days but within 90 days A0 HEMN0A A 0.9% - -
Over 90 days but within 365 days HBIBI0REMN365H A 1.1% 5,581 60
Over 365 days HiA365H 100.0% 180 180
6,061 241
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.5 Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Other receivables and amount due from a
related company

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the management of the Group
takes into account the historical default experience and
forward-looking information, as appropriate, for example the
Group considers the consistently low historical default rates of
counterparties, and concludes that credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding other receivables and amount due from a
related company is insignificant. The management of the Group
has assessed that these receivables do not have a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and risk of default
are insignificant, therefore the ECLs for these receivables are
not material under the 12-month ECLs and no loss allowance
provision was recognised during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—H+_A=+—HILFE

36. MHEMERERAFENE ()

36.5 f= & @k (8)
(ii) B W% ERE W — B

AAINE

NIRRT BV RELEAFIRE - A&
BEEEELTRELENCE RATEMY
BE(EA) - IR EERABHF R
FPENX-FHRIE  WHERAREER
VA1) L A R LSRR T T R Wi — Fil T Bt 2 R 3K
H2BEFERBRIETERXN - AEEER
BT ERA - B R HERAIREZ B YR
ErNgRNEReSEERR - BENRBRIL
TEX - At - ZFRKGKIEZBREE
EERET —EAEHERELTERX -
BEE-Z-_—FR-ZF-FTF+=A
=+ —HIEFETRERERERE

12-month
Gross carrying amount ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A B
REAE FEFE 2HEAEEFR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
P& Ex2 1427 PR E3 Sk ap7S okl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TExT T TExT T
As at 31 December 2021 R=Z=—F+=HA=1+—H
Contract assets* BHEE" - - - 592 592
Trade receivables* =16 el - - - 9,717 9,717
Financial assets included i~ FI5 B ERE
other receivables, deposit ~ EAENFIE - BffiLE
paid and other assets — REMEE——K™
Normal* 2,218 - - - 2,218
Amount due from a related U —F5 B
company — Normal* NRIFHIE - — 4,452 - - - 4,452
Client trust bank balances ~ BP{E:EiR1T44 180,193 - - - 180,193
Cash and cash equivalents - 4 R4 B —
Not yet past due i AR EA 99,027 - - - 99,027
285,890 - - 10,309 296,199
As At 31 December 2020  RZZT=TF+-A=+—H
Contract assets* BREE - - - 53 53
Trade receivables* B S MR - - - 6,061 6,061
Financial assets included ~ BIFAERE
in other receivables, H fth R
deposit paid and other BiRe REMEE
assets - Normal*™* - 351 - - - 351
Amount due from arelated U — I B
company — Normal** NEFRIE— /R 31,659 = = = 31,659
Cash and cash equivalents - 4 R E 4 Z B —
Not yet past due EESE 84,016 - - - 84,016
116,026 - - 6,114 122,140
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GEMBHRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1T—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. BI&EABREER ALEE (&)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
36.5 Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Other receivables and amount due from a
related company (Continued)

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

- The credit quality of the interest receivables, financial assets
included in other receivables, deposit paid and other assets
is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

(iij) Client Trust Bank Balances and Cash and
cash equivalents

In respect of client trust bank balances and cash and cash
equivalents, the Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk
by placing deposits with banks with established credit rating.
Given the high credit ratings of the banks, management does
not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

36.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet
its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled
by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group is exposed to
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of other payables and its financing
obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring
scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as
well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day business. Liquidity needs are
monitored on a day-to-day basis. Long-term liquidity needs for 360-
day lookout period are identified monthly.

The Group maintains cash, short-term bank deposits and marketable
securities to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day periods.
Funding for long-term liquidity needs is secured by the ability to sell
long-term financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GREMBHREME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. iR EKREER AFEE (&)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.6 Liquidity risk (Continued) 36.6 MEE = @k (&)
Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its INTAMAAEER_TS=_—FR-2T_FTF
non-derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. TZA=T—BZHNTEMBREZFSRENE
MR e
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than
amount cash flow on demand 2 years
BRARER —FRR #iB1FEE
BREE REREL RER D2
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FTHET FHET
As at 31 December 2021 R-B-Z-F+=A=+—H
Non-derivatives: FEOTAE -
Trade payables B ENFIE 180,509 180,509 180,509 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,982 4,084 3,737 347
184,491 184,593 184,246 347
Total
contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow on demand
A HIARBEER —F Rk
AREE REmER REK
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 31 December 2020 W-E-ZF+-A=+—H
Non-derivatives: DT -
Lease liabilities HEAE 390 392 392
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBRRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=-+—HULFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.7 Fair value measurements
Financial assets carried at fair value

The following table presents financial assets measured at fair value
at the reporting date in accordance with fair value hierarchy. The
hierarchy groups financial assets into three levels based on the relative
reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following
levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.7 Fair value measurements (Continued)
Financial assets carried at fair value (Continued)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is
categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of input that is

significant to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the statement of financial
position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE—ZT-—F+-A=T—HILFE

36. MHEMERERAFENE ()

36.7 »VEFTE (&)

B FESFRZ M EEE (B)

RFEERDHVENE A FEAEMEBERZEH
ANBEBESRERBSR  ZEHUBEEETERD

e

REBRRRARAFEFAEZHBEETED
RATHATERR :

As at 31 December 2021
RN=B=-5+=ZHA=+-H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— - e B= st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BATFEABRNUBEE
- Listed equity securities held —FEEEM EW
for trading AR ESH 2,311 - - 2,311
- Listed debt securities (Note 36.7(a) ~ — &% (H15£36.7(2) - 12,015 - 12,015
Total fair value NERE 2,311 12,015 - 14,326
As at 31 December 2020
RZBZZEE+-A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—[E E_E F=Ig R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FHIT
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BRFEFABENTBEE
— Listed equity securities held —FHEEEM LW
for trading RAESH 9,186 = = 9,186
Total fair value REEE 9,186 - = 9,186
There were no transfers between levels during the years ended 31 BE-_T--—Fr-_ZT-ZTF+-_A=+—HI1t
December 2021 and 2020. FERN - BRzELEER -
(@) Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 @ FHERMEE_EBAFEFTFEFEFE

fair value measurements

Fair value of listed debt securities have been determined by a
firm of independent professional valuer, GCA, using valuation
techniques.

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation of the
debt securities are as follows:

Listed debt securities with market quote in an active market,
the fair value will be the mid-market quote plus accrued
but unpaid interest. The fair value of these debt securities is
approximately HK$12,015,000 (2020: Nil).

2 B AN BUR

EHEBKES 2 ATEE BB FXR A EMEE
FHERGERMmEE -

BEBESMAERTERZ T ERBRANT

RERMISTFAAMEREZ LHEEES  H
AT EATHRETBEMLEETERMSZF
B ZEEBBEZAFEL12,015,0008 7T
—EoTE )

(—i—i
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBERME

(%)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

@K

37.

38.

To 4+ -A=t—ALFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to provide an adequate return to the
shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of debt to
equity ratio.

The debt to equity ratio at reporting date was as follows:

37.

EXREE
AKE Y EAEE BB ARRAREE LN RS
EEB(ERARTIRER AR -

REEREG N REHEE RN SR EEERREE)
HEERGEE - NEEA GBS R AR EEITH

2021 2020

—EB-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Total equity e iaE 466,364 465,229
Debt-to-equity ratio B B R bE 0:1 0:1

Yu Ming and Morton are registered with the SFC for the business it operates
in. Yu Ming and Morton are subject to liquid capital requirements under Hong
Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”) adopted
by the SFC. Under SF(FR)R, Yu Ming and Morton must maintain its liquid
capital (assets and liabilities adjusted as determined by SF(FR)R) in excess
of statutory floor requirement or 5% its total adjusted liabilities, whichever is
higher. The required information is filed with SFC on a regular basis and Yu
Ming and Morton have complied with those requirements during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

LITIGATIONS

(1) Mr. Lim Hang Young (“Plaintiff 1”) as the plaintiff filed a writ of
summons (“Writ 1”) in December 2016 against (i) the Stock Exchange;
(i) Yu Ming; and (i) L & A International Holdings Limited (‘L & A
International”), whose shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange as the defendants under a legal
proceeding in High Court. Pursuant to the claims generally indorsed
on Writ 1, Plaintiff 1 sought, inter alia, for (i) a declaration against the
Stock Exchange that the Stock Exchange has acted in bad faith in
the vetting of the share subscription during the general offer period; (i)
an order against Stock Exchange to rescind all listing approvals; (i) a
declaration against Yu Ming that Yu Ming purposefully ill advised L &
A International to break various the Listing Rules, including assisting L
& A International in its multi-layer marketing scheme; and (iv) an order
against L & A International to apply for self-delisting. On 21 December
2017, L & A International announced that, inter alia, High Court Action
No. HCA 3325/2016 against L & A International was dismissed by
the High Court on the ground that the Plaintiff 1 failed to file and serve
statement of claim on L & A International.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

Q)

(Continued)

The Directors, having obtained the legal opinion from the legal advisors
that no litigation has yet been commenced against Yu Ming up to the
date of this report, although Plaintiff 1 is entitled to serve a writ on
any defendant within 12 months of the issue of writ and to apply for
extension of the validity of the writ for a period of not exceeding 12
months from the expiry date of the writ and to serve the writ within
such extended period, the writ has lapsed since it has not been served
within such period, and no demand or claim has been received from
Plaintiff 1 in relation to any of the matters mentioned in the said writ,
considered that the ultimate outcome and potential obligation of this
case cannot be reliably estimated and determined that no provision
in respect of this case was made for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

Mr. Kim Sungho (“Plaintiff 2”) as the plaintiff filed a writ of summons
(“Writ 27) in January 2017 against (i) Strong Light Investments Limited,
a substantial shareholder of the L & A International (“Strong Light”);
(i) FP Sino-Rich Securities & Futures Limited (“FP”); (i) Yu Ming; and
(iv) L & A International as the defendants under a legal proceeding
in High Court. Pursuant to the claims generally indorsed on Writ 2,
Plaintiff 2 sought, inter alia, for () a declaration against Strong Light
that Strong Light and its parties acting in concert has accumulated
over 30% of the outstanding shares in L & A International, thus
triggering the mandatory general offer; and (i) a declaration against
FP and Yu Ming that FP purposefully ill advised L & A International to
break various Listing Rules, including assisting L & A International in its
multi-layer marketing scheme.

The Directors, having obtained the legal opinion from the legal advisors
that no litigation has yet been commenced against Yu Ming up to the
date of this report, although Plaintiff 2 is entitled to serve a writ on
any defendant within 12 months of the issue of writ and to apply for
extension of the validity of the writ for a period of not exceeding 12
months from the expiry date of the writ and to serve the writ within
such extended period, the writ has lapsed since it has not been served
within such period, and no demand or claim has been received from
Plaintiff 2 in relation to any of the matters mentioned in the said writ,
considered that the ultimate outcome and potential obligation of this
case cannot be reliably estimated and determined that no provision
in respect of this case was made for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

38.
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Notes to the COnsoIidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBERME

(%)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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38. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

©)

On 8 May 2017 Yu Ming received a writ of summons (“Writ 3”) dated
5 May 2017 filed by China Health Group Limited (formerly China
Healthcare Holdings Limited) as plaintiff (“Plaintiff 3”) against (i) Yu
Ming; (the “Action”) (i\E 4L 4; and ()18 as defendants under High
Court Action No. HCA1077/2017. Pursuant to the statement of claim
therein, Plaintiff 3 sought, inter alia, against Yu Ming a declaration
that the engagement letter entered into in March 2016 and another
engagement letter entered into in May 2016 between Plaintiff 3 and
Yu Ming are void and an order that Yu Ming do forthwith pay the sum
of HK$5,300,000, being the fees paid by Plaintiff 3 to Yu Ming under
the said engagement letters, to Plaintiff 3. Yu Ming has appointed
legal advisor to act for it in relation to the Action, and based on the
information and documents Yu Ming provided to it, such legal advisor
is of the opinion that Yu Ming has good prospect of successfully
defending the Action. Furthermore, Yu Ming has on 7 June 2017 taken
out an application to the court to strike out the Action on the ground
that it discloses no reasonable cause of action and/or is frivolous or
vexatious and/or is unnecessary and tends to prejudice, embarrass
or delay the fair trial of the action and/or is otherwise an abuse of the
process of the court. The hearing of the application scheduled to be
heard on 21 June 2017 has been adjourned by consent. Plaintiff 3 filed
and served its affirmation in opposition to the striking out summons
on 29 August 2017, and Yu Ming filed and served its affirmation in
reply on 1 November 2017. The hearing for the striking out summons
was heard on 19 June 2018 and the application was dismissed.
Plaintiff 3 filed its amended statement of claim (which amendments
are principally additional details which Plaintiff 3 averred support its
claims, but no amendments were made to the actual claims and reliefs
sought against the defendants in the statement of claim) on 30 August
2018, Yu Ming has filed its defence and counterclaim by 11 October
2018 and Plaintiff 3 has filed its reply and also served a Mediation
Notice on 4 January 2019. Yu Ming served its request for further and
better particulars of Plaintiff 3’s reply on 10 January 2019 and filed
and served an amended defence on 17 January 2019. Mediation took
place on 25 February 2019 but was unsuccessful and the parties
failed to reach any agreement. Plaintiff 3 filed and served answers to
the request for further and better particulars of Plaintiff 3’s reply on
18 April 2019. The Plaintiff 3 has filed in court a re-renewed writ of
summons on 4 June 2019, and the re-renewed writ of summons has
expired on 8 May 2020. The Plaintiff 3 has not applied for a renewal of
the expired re-renewed writ of summons after May 2020.

The Group’s legal advisor is of the view that Yu Ming is entitled to
rely on the “indoor management rule”, which states that any person
contracting with a company and dealing in good faith with the same
may assume that acts within its constitution and powers have been
properly and duly performed and are not bound to inquire whether
acts of internal management have been regular. They are also of the
view that there are contemporaneous records and correspondence
evidencing Yu Ming’s work done for the plaintiff pursuant to the
engagement letters. Based on the information and documents
provided to it by Yu Ming, the Group’s legal advisor is of the
opinion that, the vagaries of litigation aside, Yu Ming is very likely to
successfully defend the Action.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

GEMBHHREME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—H+_A=+—HILFE

LITIGATIONS (Continued) 38. =F#A (%)
()  (Continued) @B @&
The Directors, having obtained the legal opinion from the legal advisor, ESDRGBEERRNEREER RARERMGZ
considered that the ultimate outcome and potential obligation of this RRER BB E TR 2 - UHREEE
case cannot be reliably estimated and determined that no provision TR FRTECRFE+A=+—BULFE
in respect of this case was made for the years ended 31 December NIRRT AR AR -
2021 and 2020.
CAPITAL COMMITMENT 39. BEREIE
2021 2020
—BEC--F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contracted for but not provided in the consolidated BELNERESRE M BHRET
financial statements e 2
— Acquisition of a subsidiary — BB AR - 9,500

THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 IN THE CURRENT
REPORTING YEAR

The outbreak of COVID-19 has developed rapidly since 2020 and significantly
affected entities and economic activities in varying scales globally. While there
have been more immediate and pronounced disruptions in certain industries,
its impact on the financial industry in the country where the Group operates
has been confined to the limitation of physical meetings with new clients,
which could have impacted new business during the current reporting year.
Nevertheless, as COVID-19 continues to evolve, though the global economy
began to recover slowly due to the boost of vaccination rate in certain major
countries, it is challenging at this moment to predict the full extent and
duration of its impact to the business and economy.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 18 February 2022, the Company entered into the sale and purchase
agreement to purchase the entire issued shares of Morgan Finance Limited
from First Mariner Capital Limited. Details of the transaction were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 18 February 2022 and 1 March
2022 respectively. The transaction was completed on 1 March 2022 and the
finalised consideration was approximately HK$2,178,000.

As the acquisition was effected shortly before the date of approval of these
financial statements, it is not practicable to disclose further details about the
acquisition.

On 24 March 2022, Morgan Finance Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company since 1 March 2022), as purchaser and assignee, entered into
the deed of assignments with two vendors, as sellers and assignors, for the
acquisition of mortgage loan portfolios in the aggregated consideration of
approximately HK$43.7 million (subject to adjustments). The transaction has
not yet been completed up to date of this report. Details of the transaction
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 March 2022.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board on 25 March 2022.
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Five Year Financial Summary

LEMBME

Year ended 30 June

Six-month
period ended
31 December

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2019 2020 2021
HE
+=—A=+—A8
HEASNA=THLFE 1E7<18 A 8Af BE+=-A=1t—HILEE
—E-)N\F —ZTNF —ZNF —Z-FF ZE--F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FET FHET FTHET
Results:
ES
(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the Company
RABER ARG (E8) a7 (4,887) (13,916) 842,334 48,708 1,135
As at 30 June As at 31 December
RANA=+H R+=A=+—H
2018 2019 2019 2020 2021
—TN\F —Z-NF —ZTNEF —TTE —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET THET
Assets and liabilities:
EERGE:
Current assets
mEEE 1,686 3,175 62,486 131,394 305,671
Total assets
BERE 1,686 3,175 465,525 514,935 679,097
Current liabilities
mBAIE 948,521 963,926 32,486 36,512 201,474
Total liabilities
BEHES 948,52 963,926 49,004 49,706 212,733
Total (deficit)/equity
(F51R) HEm 4 (946,835) (960,751) 416,521 465,229 466,364
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